
SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND LAESCYP 
MEETING

4.00 pm MONDAY, 23RD JANUARY, 2017
COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and 
using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to 

the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can 
be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA
1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Central South Consortium - Contribution to 
Raising Standards in Merthyr Tydfil Schools 
To consider the attached report 1 - 14

4. HR Policy for Schools Safer Recruitment 
To consider the attached report 15 - 28

5. Self-Evaluation of improving the quality of self-
evaluation 
To consider the attached report 29 - 36

6. Self-Evaluation of the impact of leadership 
To consider the attached report 37 - 44

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 
To receive an update from the Chair

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

9. Scrutiny Work programme 
To consider the attached report 45 - 62

10. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillor L Mytton (Chair)

Councillors: S Williams, M Davies, D Jones, G Lewis, 
S Slater and C Tovey

Co-optees: C Brown, M Harris, R Lazell, A Rees and 
A Roberts

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 
 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Central South Consortium - Contribution to 
Raising Standards in Merthyr Tydfil Schools 
 
 
1.0 REASON FOR THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide information for the Scrutiny Committee on a work programme item. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the issues set out in the 

attached discussion paper.  
 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 This item is on this scrutiny committees work programme. Scrutiny & Challenge:-  

A report to scrutiny on standards cross the CSC and in Merthyr. This is part of a 
programme to report to all 5 LA’s across the consortium area. 

 
3.2 A discussion paper has been provided by the Central South Consortium and is 

attached. 
 
3.3 Hannah Woodhouse from the Central South Consortium will be in attendance. 
 
 
SCRUTINY SECTION  
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Date Written 17th January 2017 
Report Author Scrutiny Section 
Service Area Scrutiny 
Committee Date 23rd January 2017 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Central South Consortium Contribution to Raising Standards in Merthyr Tydfil Schools 

Discussion Paper for Merthyr Scrutiny 

January 2017 

Background 

1. Since 2012, Central South Consortium has delivered aspects of school improvement services 
on behalf of the five authorities: Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf and 
the Vale of Glamorgan.   This covers 400 schools, 30% of Wales’ children.  It is a growing 
region with rapidly changing demographic encompassing increasingly diverse communities 
across the economic sub region. It remains the region with the highest number of children 
living in poverty – just over 1 in 4 children claim free school meals in 2016.  
 

2. The service delivers challenge and support on behalf of the five local authorities, governed 
through a Joint Committee of Cabinet Members from each authority.   The Joint Committee 
meets four times a year and formally approves the annual business plan and budget for the 
service, holding the service to account in terms of performance and budgetary control.   
 

3. Scrutiny Committees in each of the five authorities invite the Lead Officer for the authority 
to report on the performance of the schools in their authority and the contribution of the 
consortium at any stage during the year. An annual report from the consortium relating to 
progress in the previous academic year and priorities for the year ahead is also provided.    

Central South Consortium Business Plan for the Financial Year 2016/17  

4. The consortium business plan for 2016/17 can be found here www.cscjes.org.uk/About-Us . 
It has three priorities:    
 

• Raising standards particularly in literacy/Welsh/English, numeracy/mathematics and 
improving the outcomes of the vulnerable learners fastest; 

• Improving the capacity of the system to be self improving, particularly improving 
leadership and governance, teaching and learning and effective challenge and support; 

• Develop the consortium to as a high performing organisation focusing on performance 
management, governance and effective use of resources.  

 
5. The business plan includes stretching and ambitious targets based on those set in each local 

authority whilst also reflecting school target setting.  Each local authority has agreed a local 
authority annex, which indicates local authority specific targets, reflecting those set in the 
post inspection action plan or corporate education plan.  
 

6. The business plan sets out how we aim to deliver these priorities through effective school 
self-evaluation and improvement planning, underpinned by building capacity in schools to 
support other schools through the development of the ‘Central South Wales Challenge’.  
This is led by schools and has involved the continued development of evidence based 
strategies (school improvement groups (SIGs), pathfinder pairings, school improvement hubs 
and peer enquiry models in which schools can be resourced to work together to share 
practice across the region. Further information about these programmes can be seen 
here http://www.cscjes.org.uk/Central-South-Wales-Challenge/What-is-the-Strategy  
 Page 2

http://www.cscjes.org.uk/About-Us
http://www.cscjes.org.uk/Central-South-Wales-Challenge/What-is-the-Strategy


7. The consortium’s self evaluation process reviews regularly the impact of challenge and 
support and provides an update report to the Advisory Board and Joint Committee.  Part of 
the Central South Consortium’s self-evaluation is drawn from a specific evaluation 
programme commissioned from Cardiff University focused on the Central South Wales 
Challenge programme to evidence impact over time on capacity in the system beyond the 
immediate school performance information.  

Performance across the Central South region in 2016 

8. Since 2012 standards have improved rapidly, compared to the national average, across the 
region at every key stage. In 2016 the region continued to show strong improvement and 
was above the national average at every key stage for the first time and remained above it 
for the second year in key stages 1, 2 and 4.  Standards for the most vulnerable children 
continued to rise fastest in the region, compared to Wales at all key stages, and in particular 
children living in poverty perform better in the Central South region than across the rest of 
Wales at key stage four.  
 

9. In 2015/16 the proportion of schools in inspection categories (SI and SM) is lower than the 
national proportion in 2015/16 (5.5% regionally compared to 6.0% nationally). This 
proportion is lower than the cumulative proportion seen since 2010 regionally and nationally 
(7.6% for both). However, based on 2015/16 inspections, more secondary schools went into 
a category or follow up compared to the national position whilst primary schools’ inspection 
profile is significantly better than the national picture.  
 

10. Categorisation outcomes for the 2016/17 academic year demonstrate that schools in need 
of the more intense levels of support have reduced in each authority across the region, 
although less so at secondary level.  Categorisation headlines for the region will be 
presented to the Scrutiny Committee following the national publication on the 31st January.  
 

11. During the 2015/16 year three local authorities in the region were removed from an Estyn 
follow up category; Special Measures (Merthyr Tydfil), Significant Improvement (Cardiff) and 
the Vale of Glamorgan was removed from Estyn monitoring. All three inspection reports 
cited the contribution of the consortium in working effectively with the local authority to 
improve outcomes for learners and contributed towards the progress made in the 
authorities’ schools.  
 

12. In March 2016, the consortium itself was inspected by Estyn.  The inspection report 
recognised progress in establishing clear strategy, vision, delivery of consistent challenge 
and support and partnership working It had three ‘good’ judgements for leadership, 
improving quality and strategic partnerships and two ‘adequate judgements’ relating to 
school improvement and use of resources.  The four recommendations focus on: 
o reducing variation in standards at KS4 
o improving specificity of judgements of teaching and leadership by challenge advisers, 
o evaluating impact of support strategies and  
o evidencing value for money.   

The Merthyr Tydfil Scrutiny Committee has previously received a report, 12th September 
2015, on the outcomes of the inspection and progress against recommendations.  

 
Page 3



Consortium Self -evaluation and Business Planning 2017/18  

13. The Consortium business planning process for 2017/18 is well underway and will be brought 
to the Joint Committee in March 2017.   
 

14. The 2017/18 business plan will be developed in the context of a number of specific strategic 
challenges as well as areas where self-evaluation indicates area for improvement.  Strategic 
challenges for the Consortium include the need to work with others across Wales and with 
Welsh government to support the implementation of the new curriculum, ‘Successful 
Futures’. A number of schools are working as ‘pioneers’ developing elements of the 
curriculum or teaching and learning models, but there remains at present some need for 
further clarity about how implementation of curriculum reform for all schools will  work. In 
addition, there remain significant challenges about workforce reform, including to meet 
aspirations for spoken Welsh and digital skills as well as new proposals for reform of initial 
teacher training.  A further question concerns the emerging proposals for local government 
reform due in the Spring of 2017, which emphasises a need for services to be delivered 
collaboratively across authorities and regions.    
 

15. The self-evaluation report is updated regularly and identifies a number of areas for 
improvement for the region as a whole. These include: 
• Despite a narrowing of the gap, gaps for vulnerable learners, particularly e-FSM learners, 

are still too wide; 
• There is significant underachievement by boys in languages; 
• There remains wide variation in secondary outcomes with a small number of very 

vulnerable secondary schools making progress too slowly ; 
• More able learners’ outcomes are improving but can do further particularly at Key Stage 

five (post 16); 
• Leadership capacity in the system and recruitment to core subject teaching posts remains 

a challenge; 
• Challenge advisers’ reporting is improving but judgements regarding teaching and 

leadership need to be made more robustly; 
• There is evidence to link most school to school working to impact but more needs to be 

done to evidence sustainable impact through evaluation and deepen the impact of 
enquiry led practice at the classroom level; 

• There is more to do to build system leadership behaviours from many heads;  
• Implementation of performance management needs to be tighter for staff and there is 

more to do to embed a culture of self evaluation and business planning in order to 
evidence value for money; 

• There is further work to do with elected members and governors to raise awareness and 
improve coordinated scrutiny of the consortium.  

 
16. The financial year 2017/18 business plan will set out how the organisation will, as far as 

possible, respond to strategic challenges and address areas for improvement along with the 
Estyn recommendations through a detailed resourced plan developed with input from 
schools, staff and Local Authorities.   

  

Page 4



 
17. In the financial year 2017/18, local authorities have reduced core funding to the consortium 

by 5% compared to that of the previous year.  The business plan will include how the 
Education Improvement Grant (EIG) is to be allocated, which will aim to increase delegation 
rates (currently 92% of EIG is delegated to schools) further than in previous years and 
reduced further the top slice retained which is increasingly used to fund schools to provide 
support. In addition Welsh Government provides grant to the Consortium to deliver specific 
national priorities, normally through school led projects.    
 

18. The final business plan for the financial year 17/18 will be presented to the Joint Committee 
for approval in March 2017. The plan will have five areas of focus:   
1. Improving outcomes for vulnerable learners through effective partnership work with 

inclusion services; 
2. Delivering curriculum reform through school to school working; 
3. Improving leadership, governance and workforce reform; 
4. Rapid and sustainable intervention; 
5. Delivering value for money.  

 
19. Again, each Local Authority has participated in establishing the priorities and constructing 

the business plan. Local Authority Annexes will continue, budget permitting, where the 
business plan does not meet the specific requirements from the local authorities set out in 
their own corporate education plan.  

Performance in Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council Schools  

20. In Merthyr Tydfil as Scrutiny reports have shown, standards in 2016 were good and the rate 
of progress is also good across all performance indicators.  For the third year attainment has 
risen at a faster rate than the Welsh average and this is particularly evident at Key Stage 4 
where over the last two years schools in Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council showed the 
fastest average improvement of any authority. 
 

21. In particular: 
a. At Foundation Phase, in MTCBC the percentage of pupils aged between 5 and 7 years old 

who achieved the expected level  (Outcome 5 or above) has increased by 5 percentage 
points from 81.2 to 86.2, compared to a regional rise of 3.5 percentage points and a 
national increase of 1.4 percentage points.   

b. At key stage 2, in MTCBC the number of pupils aged between 7 and 11 years old, 
achieving at least their expected level (Level 4 or above) has increased by 3.2 percentage 
points from 84.2 to 87.4 in 2015, compared to a regional rise of 2 points and a national 
increase of 1.6 percentage points.  

c. At key stage 3, in MTCBC the proportion of pupils aged between 11 and 14 years olds 
achieving at least the expected level (Level 5 or above) have seen a significant rise of 6.8 
percentage points from 75.1 to 81.9, compared to a regional improvement of 3.3 
percentage points and a national average of 2.9 percentage points. 

d. At key stage 4 the percentage of pupils achieving 5 GCSE passes at grades A* - C including 
English/Welsh and mathematics (known as the Level 2 + measure) improved in MTCBC in 
2014 by 10.2 percentage points, the steepest improvement in Wales.  

  

Page 5



In 2015 provisional results show outcomes improved again at this indicator by another 2 
percentage points taking the overall Level 2+ figure in MTCBC to 50.8 percentage points. 
This compares to a regional improvement over two years of 8.5 percentage points.  The 
national average for the Level 2+ indicator is currently unavailable.    

Challenge and support provided by the Consortium on behalf of MTCBC 

22. In 2016/17 Merthyr Tydfil Local Authority spent £287,857 on core funding on the consortium 
function.  In addition to the core costs of the consortium this has provided funding for the 
six challenge advisers plus support for Schools Challenge Cymru Advisers, a part time senior 
Challenge Adviser and a senior maths adviser for the secondary sector plus on costs and 
support costs.  
 

23. Inspection outcomes during 2015/16 include: Five schools were inspected with two being 
placed into an Estyn monitoring category, Cyfarthfa High School and Pen Y Dre High School; 
two placed into Local Authority monitoring category, Ysgol Gynradd Santes Tudful and Ysgol 
Gynradd Coed Y Dderwen; and Cyfarthfa Park Primary School who achieved good and 
excellent in their inspection.  Bishop Hedley High School and Pantysgallog Primary School 
moved out of Estyn monitoring and Twynyrodyn Community School out of In Need of 
Significant Improvement. Following an Estyn monitoring visit, Goetre Primary was placed 
into the formal category of In Need of Significant Improvement.  
 

24. Elected Members will be aware that we use a categorisation process to identify the schools 
in need of support using both data and judgement of leadership and capacity to improve.  
During 2015/16, the consortium worked closely on behalf of the Local Authority to monitor 
the progress of the schools in need, two schools required ‘red’ level of support and six 
schools required amber level of support.   
 

25. Challenge advisers have a relevant educational background and level of experience and are 
providing good quality support and challenge to schools. They have continued to work well 
and in partnership with the local authority to provide effective monitoring, challenge, 
support and intervention where needed. Challenge advisers have commissioned bespoke 
support and intervention from the wider support teams within the Central South 
Consortium.   
 

26. Categorisation outcomes for 2016/17 identify that improvement is evident across the 
authority. The final categorisation outcomes will become public on the 31st January and 
therefore we will be presenting verbally on outcomes at the Scrutiny Committee on the 23rd 
January.  
 

27. More broadly support provided by the consortium to schools in Merthyr Tydfil has included:  
a. Retained EIG partly funds literacy and numeracy support. This includes 6 primary schools 

in receipt of intensive literacy support and 5 primary schools in receipt of intensive 
numeracy support; 3 secondary schools receive secondary numeracy/maths and 
literacy/English. In addition direct funding has been provided in some cases. The progress 
reporting of this support is included in the progress monitoring of schools receiving red 
and amber levels of support.    

b. 16 schools, comprising of the primary and secondary sectors within Merthyr Tydfil have 
accessed professional development programmes provided by Hub schools across the 

Page 6



region.  Merthyr schools involved in providing support as part of the Hub programme 
include:  
o Cyfarthfa High School offering mathematics provision as part of the Hub programme;  
o Bishop Hedley High School as a Professional Learning Hub;  
o Troedyrhiw Primary School offering mathematics provision;  
o Cyfarthfa Park Primary, Ysgol Gymraeg Rhyd Y Grug and Ysgol Gymraeg Santes Tudful 

offering leadership and Welsh language programmes  
c. Three schools have been part of pathfinder pairings in the local authority. Again, where 

these are red and amber support schools their impact has monitored and evaluated in 
the red and amber schools progress reporting. 

d. The majority of Merthyr schools have been involved in SIG working, and during 2015/16 
SIGs including Merthyr schools have focused on: literacy, numeracy, teaching and 
pedagogy, pupil voice, ICT and digital curriculum framework and assessment. SIGs are 
reviewed annually and have to provide a report on their priorities and impact against 
their priorities twice a year in order to be funded; 

e. Three Merthyr schools have engaged in the peer enquiry programme, which supports 
Headteachers working in triads to review and evaluate focus areas in each school and 
then providing a detailed report on the strengths and areas for improvement;  

f. The consortium has invested heavily in leadership provision in the 2015/16 year. This has 
included opportunities to support another school with leadership capacity or coaching, 
leadership of school to school provision and direct leadership programmes. Of these, 4 
Headteachers have undertaken the New to Headship programme; 2 Headteachers have 
undertaken the Strategic Headship programme; 6 Headteachers have completed the 
Consultant Headship programme; 3 on Future Leadership programme, there have been 2 
successful NPQH applicants and a number of Heads are being funded to mentor other 
future leaders as part of building leadership capacity; 

g. There have been three Schools Challenge Cymru Advisers in Merthyr and in addition the 
Foundation Phase, Welsh in Education, Hwb+ and Qualified for Life teams based in school 
improvement hubs have also supported Merthyr schools as part of their grant funded 
operation. 

Additional support requested through the Local Authority Annex 

28. In Merthyr the authority has also requested specific support in the following areas: 
 

29. Local Authority Annex 2015-2016: 
o Secure better outcomes for learners at all key stages, particularly Key Stage 4 and analyse 

and use performance data to identify and address underperformance. 
o Strengthen the level of challenge to schools and use the full powers available to the 

authority to improve leadership and management in underperforming schools. 
o Ensure that data on the needs and attainment of all pupils with additional learning needs, 

and of vulnerable groups is used at a strategic level to identify specific issues and trends 
that inform service planning. 

Where is it working well for MTBC schools and areas for further improvement? 

30. In the Estyn monitoring inspection report of November 2015 there was an evaluation of the 
impact of the consortium. 

 

Page 7



‘A strong partnership between the authority and its regional consortium for school 
improvement, Central South Consortium, helps to provide a clear model of support and 
challenge for schools, which is proportionate to their level of need.’ 
 
‘The regional consortium, on behalf of the authority, provides a wide range of good quality 
training for middle and senior leaders in schools. ‘ 
 
Estyn inspected Central South Consortium in February 2016 and evaluated the impact of 
the consortium on school improvement across the region. 
 
‘The consortium has a clear vision and strategy to improve schools that is understood by 
most stakeholders and underpins the support for school improvement well. Almost all 
schools across the region are engaging purposefully with school-to-school working.’ 
 
‘The consortium works effectively with its local authority partners to share information 
about the performance of schools across the region, and to identify schools causing 
concern. Meetings to review the progress of schools in the highest categories of support 
are regular and place an appropriate emphasis on the role of the headteachers and 
governors to provide evidence of progress. Where there are concerns about a school’s 
progress, the consortium acts swiftly to alert the local authority and provides timely advice 
to support the local authority’s use of statutory powers to intervene in the school.’ 
 
‘All schools in the region belong to a SIG and most schools have engaged very positively 
with this activity. The SIGs provide well-structured opportunities for schools to work 
together on improvement priorities that are specific to their context, and to share best 
practice. Engagement in this work has promoted productive school-to-school working 
across the region.’ 
 

31. There are a number of issues which the Central South Consortium need to make faster 
progress on: 
o Continued focus on the achievement of pupils eligible for free school meals across the 

region; 
o Alignment with Schools Challenge Cymru.  We have a SCC lead in the region and 6 SCC 

advisers.  We have Accelerated Learning Boards and Improvement plans from all SCC 
schools, but we need to continue to focus on making sure SCC, the Consortium and the 
authority are working together efficiently;  

o Analysis of key stage 2 and 3 tests has indicated variation of teacher assessment and 
moderation. The national approach to verification of teacher assessment has been 
shown to be rigorous and impactful, this will continue to be an area of focus for 2016-
2017;  

o Continue to work with all Human Resource departments and governor support teams to 
embed consistency and quality advice for schools regardless of where they are in the 
region; 

o Improved use of information systems across the region through the development of 
Cronfa as a single point of information for schools, Local Authorities and consortium 
colleagues across the region. 

  

Page 8



Annex: Headline results across the Central South region 2015/16 

 Outcomes in the first four key stages have risen across the region, although not in every local 
authority in the Foundation Phase, and sit above the national average at Key Stages 1-4 for the first 
time. 

 

 

  

Page 9



 

 

  

Page 10



There is further work to do at Key Stage 5 (in school sixth forms) across the region. NB: MTBC has 
post 16 provision provided by the FE sector which is not included here. 

 

The performance of children claiming free school meals (e-FSM) has improved in each local 
authority, however, the gap remains stark compared with children not claiming free school meals 
(non e-FSM). 

 

 

 

There are particular issues across the region relating to boys’ performance in literacy/English/Welsh, 
and girls’ performance in mathematics/numeracy which are first identified within the Foundation 
Phase and continue to the end of Key Stage 4. Page 11



 

The gap between the performance of pupil’s e-FSM and their peers is narrowing at both primary and 
secondary levels, albeit too slowly in the secondary sector. 

 

 

The outcomes of e-FSM pupils’ have improved at a faster rate across this region and sits above the 
National Average and exceed the Welsh governments’ target a year early. 

Page 12



 

Schools in all contexts have improved against the trend position in 2014/15 but there still remains 
some schools which need to make significant and rapid improvements. 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

HR Policy for Schools Safer Recruitment  
 
 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is committed to safeguarding the welfare of 

all children including those educated within its schools.  The purpose of this policy is 
to set out robust recruitment protocols for schools to minimise the risk of employing 
individuals who do not share this commitment. The policy is attached. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 the content of the report is discussed and noted. 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is committed to safeguarding the welfare of 

all children including those educated within its schools. Headteachers and Governing 
Bodies have a responsibility to ensure that this policy is adhered to when planning 
and carrying out a recruitment process in their school. This policy has been reviewed 
in order to re-affirm all of the requirements for pre-employment checks. It includes 
more detailed information around the employment of agency labour and on the 
procedures to follow when contractors and volunteers are working on the site of a 
school.     

 
4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 Headteachers and Governing Bodies were not always aware of the extent of their 

responsibility when planning and carrying out recruitment processes in their school 
and of the required pre-employment checks. Not all schools were carrying out risk 
assessments and/or putting risk management plans in place for those staff that 
commenced work prior to all pre-employment checks being completed.  

 

Date Written 12th January 2017 
Report Author Sarah Bowen  
Service Area Learning 
Committee Date 23rd January 2017 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1     There is a clear message across the council that safeguarding is everybody’s 

responsibility. Schools engage with the annual Safeguarding audit led by Education. 
This encompasses details on recruitment processes. There are clear processes and 
procedures in place to ensure that the safeguarding arrangements are robust.  The 
required pre-employment checks are made explicit to all schools. If staff start 
employment when not all of the pre-employment checks have been completed, 
schools know that a risk management plan needs to be instated. HR and Education 
monitor those subject to such plans closely about the missing checks. This ensures 
appropriate and proportionate safeguarding arrangements are in place.   

 
6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 The desired outcomes are as follows; 

• All pupils feel happy, healthy and safe, 
• All schools have a whole school approach to wellbeing, 
• All schools adhere to the Safer Recruitment Policy at all times, and 
• Where necessary appropriate and proportionate safeguards are in place in all 

schools to mitigate the risk to any pupil.  
 
7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 The HR Policy for Schools Safer Recruitment will be shared with schools 

electronically and then re-affirmed at the Schools Safeguarding meeting in February. 
This policy will be reviewed by HR and Education annually in partnership with the 
Corporate Safeguarding Group.  

 
8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
 
8.1 The Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact Assessment has been 

completed and the report positively impacts on all aspects of the Corporate Plan and 
Single Integrated Plan; including people in Merthyr Tydfil having the opportunity and 
aspiration to learn and develop their skills to maximise their potential; and children 
and young people enjoying a vibrant, attractive, safe and sustainable place in which 
to live, work, play and visit.  No negative impacts have been identified. 

 
 
DOROTHY HAINES 
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING) 

COUNCILLOR HARVEY JONES   
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

 
Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s Constitution? No 
 

Page 16



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Human Resources Department 

HHRR  PPOOLLIICCYY  FFOORR  SSCCHHOOOOLLSS  
SSAAFFEERR  RREECCRRUUIITTMMEENNTT  

  

  
 

Page 17



2 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 
1. Introduction 
 
2. Job Descriptions and Person Specifications 
 
3. Job Adverts and Application Packs 

 
4. Shortlisting and Interviewing Candidates  
 
5. Pre-employment Checks 
 

a) References 
b) Employment History 
c) Right to Work in the UK 
d) Enhanced DBS disclosure 
e) Verification of Candidate’s Identity 
f) Qualification Verification 
g) List 99 
h) Medical Clearance 
i) Verification of Professional Registration 
j) Overseas CRB disclosure 
 

6. Renewal of DBS Checks  
 
7. Vetting of Specific Groups / Individuals 
 

a) Agency Labour 
b)  Contractors 
c) Volunteers 
d) Governors 
e) Groups / Individuals not requiring a CRB check  

 
8. Maintaining a Central Record 
 
9. Induction and Continued Awareness 

 
 
     Appendix 1 - Risk Assessment 

Page 18



3 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is committed to safeguarding the welfare of all 

children including those educated within its schools.  This Policy will set out robust 
recruitment protocols for schools to minimise the risk of employing individuals who do not 
share this commitment.  

1.2 Headteachers and Governing Bodies have a responsibility to ensure that this Policy is 
adhered to when planning and carrying out a recruitment process in their school. If the 
school has a service level agreement for recruitment and vetting services then the 
relevant service provider (normally either the LA’s HR Administration team or the 
Council’s HR team) should also have regard and ensure adherence to this document. In 
the absence of the appropriate service level agreements, any reference to the LA’s HR 
Administration team and the Council’s HR team within this document will become the 
schools’ direct responsibility. Schools should also provide this document to any agency 
labour supplier that they may use and ask them to ensure that they adhere to the 
contents where relevant. This Policy is in line with current guidance and the 
recommendations arising from the Bichard Inquiry and may be revised through 
consultation with relevant stakeholders or upon any statutory or national developments. 

2. JOB DESCRIPTIONS AND PERSON SPECIFICATIONS 

 
2.1 At the start of the recruitment process it is important to define what the postholder’s 

responsibilities towards children will be, as well as the qualifications and experience 
needed to perform the job. This is the first opportunity to reinforce child welfare values to 
potential new employees. As a minimum requirement, the following statement should 
always feature on all person specifications to confirm the Council’s and School’s 
commitment to safer recruitment. 

 “Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (and/or school’s name) is committed to 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of Children and Young People. All 
employees and volunteers working with these groups are expected to share a 
commitment to this. You will be expected to report any concerns relating to the 
safeguarding of children and young people in accordance with agreed 
procedures”. 

 
2.2 The requirement to be DBS checked must also be reflected in the person specification. It 

is envisaged that due to the nature of work in schools and contact with children that all 
posts will require an enhanced DBS disclosure. 

 
2.3 Job Descriptions must detail: 
 

• The main duties and responsibilities of the post; 
• The postholder’s specific responsibility towards the promotion and the practice of 

safeguarding the welfare of children that they come in to contact with through their 
job.  

 
2.4 Person Specifications must detail: 
 

• The qualifications required to do the job; 
• The skills and competencies required; 
• Professional Registrations (if required); 
• A requirement for an enhanced DBS disclosure; 

Page 19



4 
 

• The employer ‘Safeguarding’ statement; (as per example 2.1) 
• Requirements relating to the safeguarding of children, such as: 

- Motivation to work with children; 
- Ability to form and maintain appropriate relationships and personal boundaries 

with children; 
- Emotional resilience in working with challenging behaviours; 
- Attitudes to use of authority and maintaining discipline. 

 
2.4.1 All of the ‘essential’ points on the person specification should be evidenced either in a 

candidate’s application form or through the interview and selection process. 
 
3. JOB ADVERTS AND APPLICATION PACKS 
 
3.1 Upon the finalisation of the Job Description and Person Specification the School is then 

likely to progress to advertising the vacancy. This is another opportunity to reconfirm the 
Council’s and School’s commitment to safer recruitment and safeguarding children. The 
promotion of an employer’s commitment to safeguarding and child protection can act as 
a deterrent to potentially unsuitable individuals and therefore is paramount throughout all 
parts of the recruitment process. 
 

3.2 When placing an advert, please make sure the following details are featured: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.3 The following documents should be included in all application packs unless specified: 

Application Form (CV’s should not be accepted unless accompanied by an application 
form) 

• Job Description  

• Person Specification  

• School’s Prospectus / Development Plan (Teaching roles) 
• School’s Child Protection or Welfare Policy 

• Recruitment of Ex-offenders Policy  
 

• Post Title 

• Hours (this should indicate if full or part-time) 

• Grade & Salary 

• Permanent or Fixed Term (if Fixed Term the duration of the contract should be stated) 

• Advert Text (which should include some reference to the post holder’s responsibilities towards 
safeguarding children) 

• Closing Date: 

• Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (and/or school’s name) is committed to safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of Children and Young People. The successful applicant will be required to 
undergo a thorough vetting process including an enhanced DBS check. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



5 
 

 
4.  SHORTLISTING AND INTERVIEWING CANDIDATES 
 
4.1 The shortlisting and interviewing process provides an initial opportunity to undertake 

some of the pre-employment checks referred to in Section 5. The process should allow 
sufficient time for any discrepancies or issues in a candidate’s application to be 
scrutinised and clarified. With this in mind all candidates should have their qualifications, 
employment gaps, criminal record, references and their attitude towards children 
discussed at interview.  
 
This means that when a candidate is successful, issues surrounding their application and 
references can be fully explored on a face to face basis before they are offered the post. 

 
4.2 In accordance with Bichard recommendations and where candidates have given 

permission on their application form to seek references prior to an offer of appointment, 
references should be requested at an appropriate time prior to the interview in order that 
they can be returned and considered during the interview process. One of the referees 
must be the candidate’s current or most recent employer. The Council’s reference pro-
forma should be used to obtain references. Open references are not acceptable.  

 
4.3 At interview, any gaps in employment history must be discussed with the candidate. 

Valid reasons for gaps in employment may be: the candidate did not need to work, 
travelling, bringing up a family, caring responsibilities, family bereavement or a period of 
sickness. As well as reasons for obvious gaps in employment, the reasons for a history 
of repeated changes of employment without any clear career or salary progression, or a 
mid-career move from a permanent post to agency or temporary work, also need to be 
explored and confirmed. 

 
4.4 As posts within schools are exempt from the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, 

candidates should be encouraged to disclose any unspent convictions, warnings, 
reprimands or cautions during the application stage. This is facilitated within the 
application form but even where a candidate has not made a disclosure this should be 
reconfirmed at interview. Having a criminal conviction will not necessarily bar a person 
from working with children and should not be used to automatically discount applications. 

 
4.5 In accordance with the Person Specification, the recruiting panel should seek to identify 

the candidate’s experience or views on the following points: 
 

• Motivation to work with children;  

• Ability to form and maintain appropriate relationships and personal boundaries with 
children; 

• Emotional resilience in working with challenging behaviours; 

• Attitudes to use of authority and maintaining discipline. 
 

Asking candidates to draw on their experience of situations with children will give a good 
impression of the candidate’s understanding of the points above. It will enable the panel 
to probe issues that the candidate may not discuss, allowing the panel to be aware of 
issues or a lack of knowledge that a candidate may have. 

 
5.  PRE-EMPLOYMENT CHECKS 
 
5.1    Schools are required to perform some of the following pre-employment checks during the 

candidate’s interview as indicated. Other checks will be undertaken by the LA’s HR 

Page 21



6 
 

Administration team following the interview. All of these checks must be undertaken 
before confirming an appointment to a school role. 

 
5.1.1 References (prior to interview where possible) - The LA’s administration and staffing 

team will acquire two references for every potential employee either before the interview 
or after for the successful candidate if necessary. One of these references must be from 
the current or most recent employer. As the post requires working in an environment with 
children, it is important to have a reference, if available, from an employer or voluntary 
agency demonstrating the candidate’s previous work experience, paid or unpaid, of 
working with children. As obtaining references prior to interview is not always possible, 
the panel or Headteacher on behalf of the panel, should be satisfied that references 
returned following the candidate’s interview are acceptable. 

 
5.1.2 Employment History (prior to and during interview) 

When checking an application form it is important to note any gaps in employment or 
noticeable patterns when the candidate changed their employment. These gaps or 
unusual variations of employment will need to be discussed and satisfactory 
explanations given and recorded by the panel at the interview. 

 
5.1.3 Right to Work in the UK (during and following interview) 

It is a legal obligation that every employer in the UK verifies whether a potential 
employee has the right to work in the UK. This can be easily achieved by enquiring at 
interview and confirmed during the verification of identity (see 5.1.5). Photocopied 
evidence (i.e. UK passport, UK Birth Certificate or NI card) to support their right to work 
in the UK can then go on their personnel file and logged on the central record. 

 
5.1.4 Criminal Background / Enhanced DBS Disclosure (during and following interview) 

This will provide relevant detail on a candidate’s criminal history including any 
supplementary police intelligence. Candidates will need to be given the opportunity at the 
application and interview stages to declare any unspent  convictions they may have and 
any declaration they make will be compared with the returned DBS disclosure. A criminal 
history will not necessarily bar someone from working in a job with children. The severity, 
nature, circumstances and timing of the conviction, reprimand, warning or caution will 
need to be taken into consideration. The DBS process is undertaken by the Council’s HR 
team upon notification of a potential new employee. They will contact the successful 
candidate by e mail and request that they complete an on-line DBS application form and 
attend an appointment at Civic Centre to produce any relevant documentation to verify 
their identity in order for the DBS application to be processed. Where a returned DBS 
disclosure confirms a criminal history, a professional HR Officer will advise the 
Headteacher of the relevant details and undertake a joint risk assessment to identify an 
appropriate course of action. The DBS has introduced a new ‘update’ service allowing 
individuals to register their certificates to enable portability. However, if the DBS 
disclosure has not been registered then a new check will need to be undertaken. 
 
Schools who not purchase the HR SLA will need to ensure that provision is made for 
ensuring that DBS and vetting checks are undertaken. 

 
5.1.5 Verification of Identity (following interview) 

It is vital that schools know who their employees are and have evidence to prove this. 
This must be carried out in a face-to-face interview i.e. not via the post, and is facilitated 
by the HR administration team during the DBS checking process. Copies of photographic 
ID (i.e. UK passport or driving licence) as well as a birth certificate and proof of address 
(utility bill or bank statement) should be taken for the successful candidate and sent to 

Page 22



7 
 

the LA’s HR Administration team to go onto their personnel file and be logged on the 
central record. 
 

5.1.6 Verification of Qualifications (following interview) 
Any essential qualifications legally required to perform a particular job, such as QTS, as 
stated in the person specification, need to be evidenced by the potential employee. A 
copy of the successful candidates’ certificates will be requested by the LA’s HR 
Administration team following the interviews for placement on their personnel file and the 
central record.  
 

5.1.7 List 99 Check (following interview) 
This is a list of people barred from working with children compiled by the Government. 
This check forms part of an enhanced DBS application process and can also be 
accessed separately on the teacher’s pension’s website by the LA’s HR Administration 
team. A List 99 check can be undertaken within 24 hours if necessary. 
 

5.1.8 Medical Clearance (following interview) 
A potential employee must complete a medical questionnaire, which is then assessed by 
the Council’s Occupational Health Adviser. Depending on the answers given by the 
candidate, Occupational Health within the Council’s HR team may request an 
appointment to assess fitness for work. If no appointment is requested then the 
individual can be assured of their fitness for duty and this will be confirmed to the LA’s 
Administration team. However, if an appointment is necessary, the individual will be 
advised if they are fit for work by the Occupational Health Adviser at the end of the 
appointment. The Occupational Health unit will subsequently confirm fitness for duty to 
the school and the LA’s HR Administration team following the appointment. 
 

5.1.9 Verification of Professional Registration (following interview) 
Some posts require a professional registration with a regulatory body, such as the 
General Teaching Council for Wales etc. This again needs to be evidenced and placed 
on file, if the person specification states it as an essential requirement. The LA’s 
administration and staffing team will check a teacher’s status on the GTCW website 
when the school advises them of the successful candidate’s details. 

 
5.1.10 Overseas Criminal Record disclosure (following interview) 

If the potential employee has lived abroad for a period of time or who comes from 
another country prior to working in the UK, then a UK DBS disclosure will not give a full 
picture in respect of any criminal record they may have. In these cases an overseas 
Criminal Record disclosure will need to be applied for as well as a UK DBS disclosure 
and details for each country’s equivalent Bureau and their process for obtaining a 
disclosure are available on the DBS website.  

 
5.2 The requirement for these checks should be made clear to candidates within their 

invitation to interview correspondence and during the interview itself. Any offer of 
employment should be conditional subject to satisfactory clearances being received and 
checked. When a decision has been made upon the conclusion of the interviews the 
school should notify the successful candidate and the LA’s HR Administration team who 
will then arrange to process any outstanding pre-employment checks as soon as 
possible.  

 
5.2.1 Only when all of these checks are completed and returned should an 

unconditional offer of employment be confirmed.  It is strongly advised that 
candidates do not physically commence employment prior to that point. If the 
candidate commences employment before then the school risks having a 

Page 23



8 
 

potentially unsuitable individual on the premises. The Local Authority considers 
that the potential dangers associated with this, no matter how unlikely, far 
outweigh the benefits of a slightly earlier employment commencement date. 
Urgent staffing needs should be met through the use of agency labour in the short 
term. In exceptional circumstances employees may start employment with a risk 
assessment as long as they have completed application forms, reference requests 
and medical clearance have been made and the DBS application has been 
submitted. The risk assessment is therefore only required when responses from 
these processes are awaited and on no account should employees commence 
work until these requirements have been completed, otherwise this could have an 
impact on their eligibility for payment.  Please see Appendix 1. 

 
6.  RENEWAL OF DBS CHECKS  
 
6.1  DBS disclosures only present a candidate’s criminal history up to the date of issue. Since 

a disclosure was issued a member of staff may have new or further convictions or 
warnings that they may not have made the school aware of. Every school employee 
should therefore have their DBS disclosure renewed at least every three years unless 
there is cause to undertake an earlier renewal (i.e. where the school is advised that an 
employee may have been detained by the Police). 

 
6.2  The process of renewing a person’s DBS disclosure is automatically undertaken by the 

HR Administration team every three years. 
 
7. VETTING SPECIFIC GROUPS/INDIVIDUALS 
 
7.1 The following arrangements should be in place for groups/individuals that do not fall into 

the category of directly employed paid staff. 
 
7.2 AGENCY LABOUR 
 
7.2.1 The Council strongly recommends the use of New Directions Education Limited as its 

preferred second tier supplier of agency labour for schools. The Council has a 
contractual relationship with this provider which ensures that all individuals they supply to 
schools have the required pre-employment checks in place before they commence. 

 
7.2.3 It is essential to have evidence of the same standard of checks in place for all agency 

staff working in schools that are not sourced via New Directions Education Limited, in 
accordance with the Staffing of Maintained Schools Regulations 2007 paragraph 15a. It 
is the Headteachers and Governors responsibility to ensure that these checks are being 
carried out. With this in mind, all outside providers other than New Directions Education 
Limited,should be requested to provide evidence of the same pre-employment checks 
that the school would complete if they were directly employing the staff  themselves. This 
should be given in writing and in advance of the provider starting work at the school and 
should be agreed as part of any contract between the school and provider.  

 
7.2.4 As should be the case with any external provider coming on to a school’s premises, the 

school should first verify their identity by requesting photographic proof of identity. The 
school should be given the names of expected guests or outside providers in advance of 
their arrival on site. The school should be very clear that the named individual is who 
they say they are. 

 
 

Page 24



9 
 

7.3 CONTRACTORS 
 
7.3.1 Contractors may have unsupervised contact with children. A DBS enhanced disclosure 

may be required under certain conditions. Ideally contractors should try and work outside 
of opening hours for such establishments, if this is not practicable then the following 
information should be referred to. 

 
7.3.2  Building Contractors 

Children should not be allowed in areas where builders are working for Health and 
Safety reasons, so there should be little opportunity for workers to be unsupervised with 
children. It is difficult to say that there will not be times when contact with a child occurs. 
To accommodate for this all projects with contractors who may come into contact with 
children on site during opening hours should undergo a DBS enhanced disclosure. This 
requirement should be stated in any contract between a Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council School and the agreed contracted company who would need to finance any DBS 
checks required for its staff. There is an on line eligibility check available on the DBS 
web site to establish if posts are eligible for a DBS checks.  

 
7.3.3 Emergency Call-Out Contractors  

Contractors that are called out in an emergency may not be a contractor that has been 
checked and is known to the school prior to the ‘call-out’. It is not necessary to obtain a 
DBS disclosure for such staff, as they will only have contact with children on an ad hoc 
or irregular basis and are unlikely to be left unsupervised with children. It is best practice 
to monitor these staff in the building by getting them to sign in or out in a visitor log and 
wear a visitors badge and to have them escorted by a DBS cleared member of staff at all 
times. 

 
7.3.4 Any contractor coming on to a school’s premises should verify their identity, providing 

documents such as a passport, photo card driver’s licence and or Company or Council 
ID. The school should be very clear that the named individual is who they say they are. 

 
7.4 VOLUNTEERS 
7.4.1 Volunteers in schools may have the same unsupervised access to children as paid 

employees albeit usually on an infrequent basis. A child will not consider a distinction 
between a volunteer and a member of staff, when seeking help or support whether it be 
during school activities or out in the community. This means that volunteers should have 
certain checks completed as they are in a position of trust. (example section 5) 

 
7.4.2 As with any new staff member an identity check and a DBS disclosure should be carried 

out prior to the volunteer starting their duties within the school. Any regular, longstanding 
volunteers should have their DBS disclosures renewed every three years. 

 
7.4.3 If a Volunteer becomes a paid employee, then their right to work in the UK should be 

assessed. It is advised to apply for a new enhanced DBS disclosure as well to reflect 
their change to an employee.  

 
7.4.4 If assisting on a one-off school trip which does not involve an overnight stay, a volunteer 

does not require a DBS disclosure, but should be supervised at all times. 
 
7.4.5  DBS checks for volunteers are free of charge. DBS clearance must be in place before    

any volunteer is utilised during a school trip which involves an overnight stay.  
 
 
 

Page 25



10 
 

 
 
7.5 GOVERNORS 
 
7.5.1 Estyn guidance states that the position relating to governors changed under the 

Protection of Freedoms Act 2012. As school governors are no longer undertaking 
regulated activity, there is no requirement for them to be subject to vetting and barring 
checks. However, Governors who volunteer with pupils learning may be DBS checked in 
that capacity in accordance with the guidance.  

 
7.5.2 As with Volunteers, DBS checks for Governors are free of charge. 
 
7.6 GROUPS/INDIVIDUALS NOT REQUIRING A CRB CHECK 
 
7.6.1 The follow are examples of other persons that would not necessarily require a DBS 

check although they would all still be required to produce photographic ID so that the 
school can be very clear that the named individual is who they say they are. 
• Visitors who have business with the Headteacher, Staff or Governors, or who have 

brief contact with children with a member of staff present; 
• Volunteers or parents who only accompany staff and children on one off outings or 

trips that do not involve overnight stays, or who only help at specific one off events 
e.g. a sports day, school fête; 

• Secondary pupils on Key Stage 4 work experience in other schools or undertaking 
work in another school as part of voluntary service, citizenship or vocational studies; 
or Key Stage 5 or sixth form pupils in connection with a short careers or subject 
placement. In these cases the school placing the pupil should ensure that they is 
suitable for the placement in question; 

• People who are on site before or after school hours and when children are not 
present, e.g. local groups who hire premises for community or leisure activities. 

 
 
 
8. MAINTAINING A CENTRAL RECORD 
 
8.1 The LA’s administration and staffing team will maintain a central record of school staff 

which provides confirmation that relevant checks have been taken such as: 
 

• Verification of Identity (Name / D.O.B / Address) 
• References 
• Qualifications (Qualifications required to do the job and any professional registrations 

required) 
• List 99  
• DBS disclosure 
• Right to work in the UK (Asylum & Immigration Check) 
• Overseas Criminal Record Checks (Applicable for any employee who has spent a 

period of time living abroad) 
 
8.2  Each School will be provided with the relevant extract from the central record on an 

annual basis in order that they may be assured that all the relevant checks are in place 
for their staff. This will satisfy the requirements of any internal Council audits and/or 
Estyn inspections that may take place. This will also ensure that appropriate 
housekeeping exercises can be undertaken so that the central record can be updated 
where required, i.e. leavers removed. 

Page 26



11 
 

 
 
9. INDUCTION AND CONTINUED AWARENESS 
 
9.1 It is imperative that child safeguarding and welfare values are reinforced during the 

induction period and throughout the period of employment. Schools should ensure that 
staff receive appropriate documentation and training in relevant areas, i.e. child 
protection, anti-bullying, anti-racism, physical intervention or restraint, intimate care, 
health and safety, internet safety, counter terrorism and any local safeguarding and 
reporting procedures. 

 
9.2 Schools should ensure awareness is maintained through performance management 

appraisals, day to day supervision and generally by sustaining a positive culture and 
outlook that is inherent across all school functions.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



12 
 

       Appendix 1 
       Risk Management Plan  
                                                                

Potential Risks  School Action to mitigate risk  Responsible 

staff 

Review 

Dates* 
Unsupervised with small  
groups of pupils and no DBS  
in place 
 
 
 

Supervised by X in room X on days… and times…  
 
 

Headteacher, 
 Deputy  
Headteacher,  
SENCo 

 

Unknown medical condition  
and  working with children  
 
 
 

Supervised by X in room X on days….and times…  
 

  

 
 
 
 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 

   

       *to be reviewed weekly                                                                     
        
       Date of plan 
 
       Name and signature of designated senior staff: 
 
       Name and signature of employee: 
 
        Any areas of disagreement/comments:                                                                                  Copy to- Headteacher and Employee          

P
age 28



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000  www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and 
Gentlemen 
 

Self-Evaluation of improving the quality of self-
evaluation 
 
 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The local authority has a planned work programme for the Self–Evaluation Report 

(SER) in order to build up a profile of judgements, which will be used to highlight any 
areas for improvement as well as come to an overall view on standards and 
performance. 
 

1.2 The purpose of the report is to provide the current judgement for Key Question 3.2 in 
the SER, which focuses on improving the processes of self-evaluation and 
improvement planning in order to improve outcomes for learners. 

 
1.3 The judgement is that improving quality is good.  The SER is attached. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 
2.1 The content of this report be discussed and noted. 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
3.1 Self-evaluation is the essential step in a cyclical process of bringing about change 

and improvement.  The steps in the process are: 
• Monitoring and evaluating improvement 
• Planning for improvement 
• Undertaking improvement work 

 
3.2 The local authority’s Self-Evaluation Report (SER) for LAESCYP services is being 

reviewed and updated to ensure that the judgements and actions will lead to 
improved outcomes for all learners.  At the heart of self-evaluation are three 
questions:  
• How well are we doing?  

Date Written 13th January 2017 
Report Author Dorothy Haines 
Service Area Learning 
Committee Date 23rd January 2017 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



• How do we know?  
• How can we improve things further?  

 
3.3 ESTYN are currently reviewing the framework for the inspection of Local Authorities 

which will be piloted in 2017/18 and implemented in 2018/19.  The local authority has 
a planned work programme in order to build up a profile of judgements, which will be 
used to highlight any areas for improvement as well as come to an overall view on 
standards and performance.  The information collected will lead into the local 
authority’s delivery plans for improving the quality of provision.  Reports on all the 
areas of the SER will be presented to LASECYP scrutiny over the coming months. 

 
3.4 Estyn produced ‘A self-evaluation manual for local authority education services for 

children and young people 2010’ and although the framework will be replaced this 
remains a useful document to support self-evaluation.  The extract related to 3.2 is 
included in Appendix 1. 

 
3.5 In December 2015, Estyn judged that ‘the latest self-evaluation report is an accurate 

and honest evaluation of the education service’s work.  It helps ensure a clearer 
corporate understanding of the strengths and areas for improvement in the education 
service’.  The review of the SER will build upon the judgements made in the last 
SER. 

 
3.6 The aim of improving quality is to ensure that the processes of self-evaluation and 

improvement planning are a regular and routine part of the local authority’s work. 
The focus of self-evaluation should be on identifying priorities for improvement, 
monitoring provision and assessing outcomes. 

 
4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

 
4.1 In 2014/2015, improving quality was judged good. 

 
5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 The current position for improving quality is good, resulting in better provision and 

improved standards and wellbeing for the majority of learners across the authority. 
Leaders, managers and elected members have an accurate picture and 
understanding of the authority’s strengths and weaknesses.  They routinely make 
good use of a range of rigorous monitoring activities. Performance data is 
consistently used to monitor progress and plan for improvement.  There is a 
sustained focus on achieving progress against the authority’s priorities.  Improving 
quality is not excellent because the local authority needs to bring about a greater 
involvement of communities and individuals with an interest in school improvement 
and education, including the voice of pupils. 

 
5.2 There have been improvements in embedding self-evaluation and in achieving 

greater consistency in the use of the self-evaluation as a tool for delivering quality 
improvement.  In addition, the process has been rationalised so that activity is 
reduced and impact is maximised through ensuring priorities are clearer and sharply 
focused on key areas for improvement.   
In schools, collaboration is embedded in effective networks of professional practice 
that extend beyond the borough. Headteachers actively seek out good practice and 
partnership working. Improving seeking the views of stakeholders and involving them 
in the processes of self-evaluation and improvement planning is improving in some 
areas but needs to increase in relation to pupils, families and communities. Page 30



 
6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  

 
6.1 The LA’s ambition is to be ranked in the top 10 performing local authorities by 2017 

and is making good progress towards achieving this target.  Effective support for 
school improvement can provide a clear, demonstrable and beneficial effect on 
learners. 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1      The key priorities for improvement are to 

• Take greater account of the views of other agencies, pupils, parents/carers and 
community groups 

• Commission external and peer reviews  
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
 

8.1 Effective self-evaluation and improvement planning contributes substantially to the 
capacity to achieve the corporate priority of raising standards of attainment. 

 
 
DOROTHY HAINES 
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING) 

COUNCILLOR HARVEY JONES   
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
   
   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 

Page 31



Appendix 1  
Extract from ‘A self-evaluation manual for local authority education services for 
children and young people 2010’ 
How do we improve the quality of what we do? (CIF 3.2) 
The processes of self-evaluation and development planning should be a regular and routine 
part of the local authority’s work. The focus of self-evaluation should be on identifying 
priorities for improvement, monitoring provision and assessing outcomes. 
The process should involve a rigorous review of all aspects of the work of the local authority 
and, most importantly, how these impact on outcomes. A key consideration is whether our 
local authority is managed on the basis of an accurate evaluation of our strengths and 
weaknesses. Our leadership and management are unlikely to be good if we do not have 
effective self-evaluation procedures. 
Improvement planning should flow naturally from our self-evaluation activities. The priorities 
in any improvement plan should be based on the findings of our self-evaluation. The test of 
good improvement planning is whether the actions have led to clear improvements. If our 
improvement planning is good, then we should have a well-evidenced track record of 
improvements. 
How well do we carry out self-evaluation, including listening to learners and others? (CIF 
3.2.1) 
Questions we should consider about self-evaluation 
 Do we  us e  e vide nce  to ide ntify a nd to confront unde rpe rforma nce  or coa s ting 
performance, to identify improvement activity and to set high but realistic targets and 
standards? 
 Is  s e lf-evaluation a regular part of our local authority’s working life and embedded in our 
strategic planning? 
 Is  the re  a  thorough e va lua tion a nd monitoring of da ta  on s ta nda rds  a nd the  qua lity of 
education, including consideration of trends and progress over time? 
 Do we  involve  a ll s ta ff in a s s e s s ing outcome s  a nd the ir own performance? 
 Do we  e ncoura ge  le a rne rs  to s ha re  the ir vie ws  a nd ra is e  is s ue s ? 
 Do we  ta ke  a ccount of the  vie ws  of our s ta ff, a ge ncie s , e mploye rs , pa re nts  a nd othe r 
stakeholders? 
 Whe re  a ppropria te , do we  dra w upon re vie ws  by e xte rna l a ge ncie s ? 
 Doe s  our self-evaluation activity lead to the formulation of our development plans and 
results in improvement in standards and quality? 
How do we plan and secure improvement? (CIF 3.2.2) 
Questions we should consider about planning and securing improvement 
 Do we  use information from self-evaluation to set priorities and appropriately challenging 
targets for improvement? 
 Ha ve  we  prioritis e d a ppropria te ly the  ma tte rs  tha t we  wis h to improve ? 
 Do a ll s ta ff pla y the ir pa rt in imple me nting the  s tra te gie s ? 
 How e ffe ctive are our performance management arrangements? 
 How we ll do e le cte d me mbe rs  a nd s e nior ma na ge rs  monitor the  progre s s  of our a ction 
plans? 

Page 32



 Whe re  ne ce s s a ry, do we  ta ke  e a rly a nd dire ct inte rve ntion a nd s upport to improve  
performance? 
 Ha ve  we  de fine d the actions for improvement in specified and realistic timescales and 
allocate responsibility for their delivery? 
 Ha ve  we  ma de  s ure  tha t our prioritie s  a re  s upporte d by the  a lloca tion of re s ource s ? 
 Ha ve  the  a ctions  we  ha ve  ta ke n ha d a  pos itive  e ffe ct and, where relevant, led to 
measurable improvements in standards? 
 How we ll ha ve  we  re s ponde d to re comme nda tions  from pre vious  ins pe ction re ports ? 
 Do we  ha ve  a  good or e xce lle nt tra ck re cord in ma king improve me nts  ove r re ce nt ye a rs ? 
 
How are we involved in professional learning communities? (CIF 3.2.3) 
Questions we should consider about professional learning communities 
 Are  our loca l a uthority s ta ff involve d in profe s s iona l le a rning communitie s  within a nd 
beyond the local authority? 
 Are  a ll of our le arning providers including schools involved in and benefiting from 
professional learning communities within and beyond the local authority? 
 Doe s  our involve me nt give  us  a cce s s  to e me rging knowle dge  a bout loca l a uthority 
leadership, standards and wellbeing? 
 Are  we  a chie ving a  culture  of colla bora tion within a nd a cros s  loca l a uthoritie s ? 
 How good a re  our a rra nge me nts  to s upport the  a ctive  engagement of all our staff in 
increasing their professional knowledge, understanding and skills, including participation in 
whole authority professional learning experiences? 
 Are  a ll our s ta ff s upporte d we ll by continuous  profe s s iona l de ve lopme nt? 
 Are all our staff acquiring new knowledge and skills to develop innovative approaches 
within their areas of work? 

Page 33



Page 1 

SELF EVALUATION – KEY QUESTION 3.2 

3.2 IMPROVING QUALITY 
 
How do we improve the quality of what we do? 

• How well do we carry out self-evaluation, including listening to learners and others? 
• How do we plan and secure improvement? 
• How are we involved in professional learning communities? I.e. schools develop and share 

their professional knowledge, and there are effective networks of professional practice with 
other authorities and partners.  

CURRENT POSITION 

The current position for improving quality is good, resulting in better provision and improved standards 
and wellbeing for the majority of learners across the authority. Leaders, managers and elected 
members have an accurate picture and understanding of the authority’s strengths and weaknesses. 
They routinely make good use of a range of rigorous monitoring activities. Performance data is 
consistently used to monitor progress and plan for improvement. There is a sustained focus on 
achieving progress against the authority’s priorities. Improving quality is not excellent because the local 
authority needs to bring about a greater involvement of communities and individuals with an interest 
in school improvement and education, including the voice of pupils.  

GOOD PRACTICE 

• Evidence based, purposeful self-evaluation has continued to be embedded in the processes of; 
Local Authority and national categorisation, Partnership Reviews, Case Conferences, Joint Practice 
Development and School to school support.  

• There is a comprehensive evaluation and monitoring of data on standards and the quality of 
education, including consideration of trends and progress over time, reported to Cabinet, Council 
and Scrutiny. 

• The Chief Education Officer continues to meet regularly with relevant heads of service and supports 
them effectively in the self-evaluation process. Schools contribute appropriately to the education 
service’s self-evaluation through a valuable range of working groups and forums. They also 
continue to contribute effectively to reviews of relevant service level agreements.  

• Self-evaluation activity leads to the formulation of our improvement plans and have resulted in 
improvement in standards and quality 

• The local authority has continued to adopt a corporate approach to improve the way it undertakes 
self-evaluation, that leads to quality improvement planning that is focussed on improving outcomes 
for all. 

• The Corporate Service Improvement Framework continues to be structured effectively around 
evidence-based evaluations of outcomes, provision and leadership and successfully supports senior 
officers and elected members to challenge performance and drive improvement. 

• Self-evaluation across LAESCYP services is linked explicitly to the Corporate Service Challenge 
Framework. It is transparent and based on reliable and comparative performance data. Information 
is used well by a range of stakeholders to challenge performance, set ambitious targets and 
continue to secure improvement. 

Page 34



Page 2 

• Performance management processes linked to self-evaluation continue to improve the usefulness 
of strategic documents, work programmes, targets and the scheduling of evaluative reports. These 
processes are highly effective in holding officers to account against the agreed targets.  

• All staff in the learning department are involved in performance appraisal and one to one meetings and 
are able to appropriately assess outcomes and their own performance 

• Performance across LAESCYP services is highly effectively monitored and challenged by Scrutiny 
members and this has contributed effectively to the continued improvements. Scrutiny members 
continue to skilfully hold to account the Central South Consortium (CSC), LA Education Services and 
schools on a regular basis. 

• Performance against the Common Inspection Framework (CIF) and against the Corporate plan is 
monitored and extensively challenged each month through the LAESCYP monitoring group which is 
chaired by the Chief Education Officer (CEO) and attended by the Chief Executive (CX) and 
Corporate Directors.   

• Termly Service Reviews completed in partnership with the Central South Consortium and continued 
monthly meetings with the Schools Challenge Cymru (SCC) champion has maintained the extensive 
targeting of support that has led to continued improvements and a reallocation of resources in 
inverse proportion to success. 

• Information from self-evaluation is used effectively to set priorities and appropriately challenging 
targets for improvement.  

• Improvement plans set out clearly the actions for improvement, with specified and realistic 
timescales and have resulted in improvements over recent years 

• A well-established professional learning community within schools from across the authority 
enables schools to develop and share their professional knowledge. 25 out of 28 schools (89%) are 
involved in regional professional learning communities within and across the region through School 
Improvement Groups, which is further strengthening collaboration. All report an improvement in 
pupil outcomes as a result of focused joint working. 

• Local authority officers are members of regional and national groups and these are effective 
networks of professional practice that enable best proactive to be applied in MTCBC 

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 
• Take greater account of the views of other agencies, pupils, parents/carers and community groups 
• Commission external and peer reviews 

 

FUTURE ACTIONS TO IMPROVE THE QUALITY OF SELF-EVALUATION 
• Involve Headteacher representatives on the LAESCYP monitoring group and other panels to ensure 

stakeholder voice is represented 
• Undertake a review of provision of additional learning needs with local authority officers from another local 

authority 
• Extend the role of an independent consultant in providing evaluations of the work and impact of the 

LAESCYP monitoring group 
• Plan and deliver improvements in the views of pupils and parents/carers through the wellbeing and 

population needs assessments 
 

 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000  www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Self-Evaluation of the impact of leadership 
 
 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The local authority has a planned work programme for the Self-Evaluation Report 

(SER) in order to build up a profile of judgements, which will be used to highlight any 
areas for improvement as well as come to an overall view on standards and 
performance. 
 

1.2 The purpose of this report is to provide the current judgement for Key Question 3.1 in 
the SER which is the impact of leadership. 

 
1.3 The judgement is that the impact of leadership is good.  The SER is attached. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 

 
2.1 the content of this report be discussed and noted. 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
3.1 Self-evaluation is the essential step in a cyclical process of bringing about change 

and improvement.  The steps in the process are: 
• Monitoring and evaluating improvement 
• Planning for improvement 
• Undertaking improvement work 

 
3.2 The local authority’s Self-Evaluation Report (SER) for LAESCYP services is being 

reviewed and updated to ensure that the judgements and actions will lead to 
improved outcomes for all learners.  At the heart of self-evaluation are three 
questions:  
• How well are we doing?  
• How do we know?  
• How can we improve things further?  

 

Date Written 13th January 2107 
Report Author Joe Colsey 
Service Area Learning 
Committee Date 23rd January 2017 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



3.2 ESTYN are currently reviewing the framework for the inspection of Local Authorities 
which will be piloted in 2017/18 and implemented in 2018/19.  The local authority has 
a planned work programme in order to build up a profile of judgements, which will be 
used to highlight any areas for improvement as well as come to an overall view on 
standards and performance.  The information collected will lead into the local 
authority’s delivery plans for improving the quality of provision.  Reports on all the 
areas of the SER will be presented to LASECYP Scrutiny over the coming months. 

 
3.3 Estyn produced ‘A self-evaluation manual for local authority education services for 

children and young people 2010’ and although the framework will be replaced this 
remains a useful document to support self-evaluation.  The extract related to the 
impact of leadership is included in Appendix 1. 

 
3.5 In December 2015, Estyn judged that ‘the latest self-evaluation report is an accurate 

and honest evaluation of the education service’s work.  It helps ensure a clearer 
corporate understanding of the strengths and areas for improvement in the education 
service’.  The review of the SER will build upon the judgements made in the last 
SER. 

 
3.6 The local authority should have clear aims, strategic objectives, plans and policies 

that are focused on meeting learners’ needs.  It is the impact of these plans and 
processes on provision and standards that determines the judgment about 
leadership. In addition, the focus is on how well  
• the leadership fulfils its statutory obligations and takes full account of relevant 

legislation and guidance 
• elected members support and challenge  

 
4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

 
4.1 In 2014/2015, the impact of leadership was judged adequate.  

 
5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 The current position for the impact of leadership is good because leadership in the 

local authority has been successful in making and sustaining improvements over the 
last four years with standards good or better in many areas.  There are many 
strengths and no important areas requiring significant improvement.  The impact of 
leadership is not excellent because in a few areas service delivery and provision 
could be further improved. 

 
6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  

 
6.1 The LA’s ambition is to be ranked in the top 10 performing local authorities by 2017 

and is making good progress towards achieving this target.  Effective support for 
school improvement can provide a clear, demonstrable and beneficial effect on 
learners. 

Page 38



 
7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1      The key priorities for improvement are to: 

• improve partnership working (collaboration) with other local authorities, agencies; 
• ensure multi-agency collaboration through the Public Service Board is effective 

in identifying and unblocking barriers to improvement and in holding statutory 
partnerships to account; 

• further improve provision that meets local needs for Welsh language, 
nursery/early years, and pupils with Additional Learning Needs; 

• make plans for greater involvement of communities and individuals with an 
interest in school improvement and education, including the voice of pupils; and 

• focus on preventative action and services within the learning environment to 
prevent future problems. 

 
8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

 
8.1 The effectiveness of leadership contributes substantially to the capacity to achieve 

the corporate priority of raising standards of attainment. 
 
 
DOROTHY HAINES 
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING) 

COUNCILLOR HARVEY JONES   
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 
   
   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 

Page 39



Appendix 1  
Extract from ‘A self-evaluation manual for local authority education services for 
children and young people 2010’ 
How do we evaluate the impact of leadership? (CIF 3.1) 
When thinking about strategic direction, we need to consider the extent to which we have 
clear aims, strategic objectives, plans and policies that are focused on meeting learners’ 
needs. 
 
Setting out and communicating a clear sense of direction, and having the plans and 
processes in place are not ends in themselves. Plans and processes are only as good as 
the extent to which they are effective in sustaining high quality and improving provision and 
standards. Good leadership must have an impact. 
 
We need to consider how well the leadership fulfils its statutory obligations and takes full 
account of relevant legislation and guidance. We will also need to consider how well elected 
members not only support our local authority, but also challenge it to do better. 
 
What is the impact of our leadership? (CIF 3.1.1) 
 
Questions we should consider about the impact of leadership 
 Do we  communica te  the  vis ion for our loca l a uthority we ll a nd e xplore  how to a chie ve  it, 
in collaboration with others? 
 How we ll do we  s e cure  provis ion that meets local needs including Welsh language 
needs? 
 Do we  s e cure  provis ion tha t is  cle a rly le a rne r focus e d a nd ma ximis e s  pote ntia l? 
 Doe s  our s e rvice  de live ry impa ct pos itive ly on the  s ta nda rds  a nd qua lity of e duca tion a nd 
training for children and young people? 
 Do we  a ctive ly s upport a nd cha lle nge  e ve ryone  to do the ir be s t? 
 Do we  build on s ha re d unde rs ta nding a nd dis tribute d le a de rs hip to cre a te  a  re s pons ive , 
learning culture in our local authority? 
 How we ll do we  ma na ge  the  pe rforma nce  of s ta ff in order to help them to improve their 
practice? 
 Doe s  our pe rforma nce  ma na ge me nt proce s s  ide ntify individua l a nd whole-authority 
training and development needs clearly and do we prioritise these appropriately and 
address them fully? 
 Do a ll our s ta ff have targets for improvement that support the delivery of the strategic 
aims in our local authority development plans and other action plans? 
 Ha ve  we  ta ke n difficult de cis ions  a s  ne ce s s a ry, for e xa mple  in s chool 
re-organisation? 
 How we ll do our re la tionships with our partners impact on outcomes for learners? 
 
How good is our strategic direction and how well do we meet national and local priorities? 
(CIF 3.1.2) 
 
Questions we should consider about strategic direction of leadership 
 Do we  ha ve  cle a r a ims , strategic objectives, plans and policies that are focused on 
meeting learners’ needs? 
 Are  the re  cle a r ide ntifia ble  links  be twe e n s tra te gic a nd s e rvice  pla ns ? 
 Are  s tra te gic pla ns  s upporte d by e ffe ctive  ope ra tiona l pla ns  which include  S MART 
targets? 
 Are our plans appropriately focused and are they being implemented and monitored in a 
timely way? 

Page 40



 How we ll do the  diffe re nt dire ctora te s  a nd s e rvice s  unde rs ta nd the  priority give n to 
education? How well do they contribute to achieving this priority? 
 Are roles and responsibilities of senior and middle management well defined, viable and 
balanced? 
 Do a ll s ta ff unde rs ta nd a nd fulfil the ir role s  in dire ct re la tion to s pe cific s tra te gic a ims , 
plans and responsibilities? 
 Do me e tings  focus  on importa nt is s ue s  of pe rforma nce  a nd core  bus ine s s  a nd ge ne ra te  
clear action points which are carried out as agreed? 
 Are  our ma na ge me nt a nd committe e  s tructure s  cohe re nt with the  s tra te gic dire ction of 
the local authority and address core issues? 
 How we ll do we  us e  da ta  to monitor pe rforma nce ? 
 Do we  a gre e  a nd a chie ve  cha lle nging a nd re a lis tic ta rge ts  for ours e lve s  a nd othe rs ? 
 Are  a ll s ta ke holde rs , including s chools , pa rtne rs , e le cte d me mbe rs  a nd office rs , fully 
committed to achieving strategic and service objectives? 
 
Questions we should consider about national and local priorities 
 Are  we  cle a r a bout loca l a nd e spe cia lly na tiona l prioritie s  a nd do we  ha ve  a  cons is te nt 
and systematic view and strategy of how we will respond to them? 
 Are  we  s ucce s s ful in me e ting prioritie s , s uch a s  thos e  in: 
 the  Tra ns forma tion a ge nda ; 
 the  S chool Effe ctive ne s s  Fra me work (S EF); 
 the  Childre n a nd Young P e ople ’s  pa rtne rs hip pla n; a nd 
 the  loca l pa rtne rs hips  a nd consortia  a gre e me nts ? 
 Do we  appreciate the purpose of these priorities and how they can improve learners’ 
outcomes and wellbeing? 
 Do we  re s pond to the  e duca tiona l cha lle nge s  of the  loca l a uthority a re a  by working with 
other local authorities, agencies and schools? 
 
How good is the work of our elected members and other supervisory boards? (CIF 3.1.3) 
 
Questions we should consider about the work of our elected members and other 
supervisory boards 
 How e ffe ctive  is  the  work of the  s crutiny committe e ?  Ha ve  the y ‘ca lle d in’ a ny de cis ions 
made by the cabinet? Are there any examples of work undertaken that has impacted on 
improvements in service delivery and outcomes? 
 To wha t e xte nt do e le cte d me mbe rs : 
 unde rs ta nd the ir role s ? 
 ha ve  good informa tion a bout the  pe rforma nce  of our loca l a uthority, its partnership 
arrangements and issues that affect it? 
 hold our loca l a uthority to a ccount for the  s ta nda rds  a nd qua lity we  a chie ve ? 
 ta ke  difficult de cis ions  to bring a bout ne ce s s a ry improve me nts , pa rticula rly with re ga rd to 
school re-organisation and school closures? 
 How e ffe ctive  is  the  Loca l S e rvice  Boa rd (LS B): 
 in ide ntifying a nd unblocking ba rrie rs  to improve me nt? 
 in holding s ta tutory pa rtne rs hips  to a ccount? 
 

Page 41



QUESTION 3:  STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP & MANAGEMENT 

 

How effective is leadership and management? 
Judgement:   
 

3.1 IMPACT OF LEADERSHIP 

How do we evaluate the impact of leadership? 

• What is the impact of our leadership?  
• How good is our strategic direction and how well do we meet national and local 

priorities? 
• How good is the work of our elected members and other supervisory boards? 
• How well are we implementing the five ways of working (sustainable 

development principle)? 
o How will we ensure our work positively contributes to each other's priorities? 
o How can we deliver better outcomes for our communities through 

collaboration? 
o How will we involve our communities with an interest in achieving improved 

wellbeing? 
o How will we balance the short-term needs of our communities and safeguard 

their long-term needs? 
o How will we prevent problems occurring or getting worse to improve the 

wellbeing of our communities? 

CURRENT POSITION 
The current position for the impact of leadership is good because leadership in the 
local authority has been successful in making and sustaining improvements over the 
last four years with standards good or better in many areas. There are many 
strengths and no important areas requiring significant improvement. The impact of 
leadership is not excellent because in a few areas service delivery and provision 
could be further improved.  
 

GOOD PRACTICE 
• The Council gives high priority to education and sets out well-defined priorities 

for improving education outcomes that are integrated across the key strategic 
plans (Corporate Plan and Single Integrated Plan). 

• The vision of securing improved outcomes through the development of a self-
improving school system is clear and well-articulated. As a result school leaders 
have taken ownership of a number of initiatives and strategies including leading 
the Foundation Phase Alliance across the authority; undertaking the role of 
School Improvement Group convenors, leading Pathfinder pairings and 
developing curriculum (literacy, numeracy and leadership) Hubs across the 
borough. 

Page 42



• The different directorates and services within the authority collaborate well in 
order to contribute to achieving this priority through well-established structures 
including future strategy meetings and the cross-directorate tackling poverty 
strategic group. 

• Professionals and portfolio members are part of the LAESCYP Monitoring Group 
where the local authority's senior officers provide good quality assurance of the 
self-evaluation, both with regard to adhering to process and in ensuring the 
accuracy of the information produced. 

• Corporate management, committee structures and business systems support 
high standards of business delivery across the whole of the authority’s work.  

• The culture across both schools and the local authority is learner focused with a 
clear sense of direction and there have been sustained improvements over the 
last four years with standards being good or better in many areas along with a 
continued increase in pupil outcomes. 

• Planning processes in education services are underpinned effectively by a 
detailed review of the previous year’s outcomes, an evaluation of the extent to 
which actions contributed to achieving priorities, and an extensive range of key 
performance indicators and targets.  

• There is a secure understanding of the priorities and associated challenges, 
including those related to the need for greater efficiencies in service delivery.  

• Self-evaluation is an accurate and honest evaluation of the education service’s 
work. It helps ensure a clearer corporate understanding of the strengths and 
areas for improvement in the education service. 

• Self-evaluation across the education service is well developed, aligns usefully to 
the Estyn framework and links well to the authority’s Corporate Service 
Challenge Framework. 

• The authority’s senior officers quality assure the self-evaluation well, both with 
regard to adhering to process and in ensuring the accuracy of the information 
produced.  

• Schools are beginning to contribute appropriately to the education service’s self-
evaluation through a good range of working groups and forums. They contribute 
effectively to reviews of relevant service level agreements.   

• A Performance Board of senior officers and elected members challenges the 
education service’s self-evaluation report annually. The board challenges 
evaluations of performance robustly and ensures that suitably ambitious targets 
are set.  

• The Learning and LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee members challenge officers 
effectively. The informative and timely reports provided to the scrutiny 
committee contribute effectively to the committee’s work. Meetings of the 
committee are accompanied by regular pre-meeting and post-meeting briefing 
sessions that enhance its effectiveness. 

• The scrutiny committee has an appropriate and well-planned programme of 
work that includes robust monitoring of action plans arising from the education 
service’s self-evaluation arrangements. It has also established an appropriate 
annual programme of reporting which includes end of key stage performance, 
NEET figures, inspection outcomes and categorisation of schools. The committee 

Page 43



is effective in holding the local authority to account and have challenged the 
nature of some support services where there are concerns, e.g. attendance, 
Additional Learning Needs 

• Performance management arrangements within the education services are 
effective in holding officers to account against the agreed targets.  These targets 
link very well to strategic priorities across the council. 

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 
• Improve partnership working (collaboration) with other local authorities, 

agencies 
• Ensure multi-agency collaboration through the Public Service Board is effective in 

identifying and unblocking barriers to improvement and in holding statutory 
partnerships to account 

• Further improve provision that meets local needs for Welsh language, 
nursery/early years, and pupils with Additional Learning Needs 

• Make plans for greater involvement of communities and individuals with an 
interest in school improvement and education, including the voice of pupils. 

• Focus on preventative action and services within the learning environment to 
prevent future problems. 
 

FUTURE ACTIONS TO IMPROVE THE IMPACT OF LEADERSHIP 
• Plan and deliver services regionally 
• Provide information and proposals to the Strategic Partnership Board and Public 

Service Board on key priorities and actions 
• Plan and deliver improvements in 

o education in the medium of Welsh through the Welsh in Strategic Education 
Plan (WESP) 

o provision for pupils with Additional Learning Needs through  the  Welsh 
Government innovation bid 

o pupil voice through the wellbeing and population needs assessments 
• Support the joint scrutiny of the Central South Consortium by the five local 

authorities. 

Page 44



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 

prepare in advance for the next scrutiny committee meeting. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The Committee considers its work programme and approve, revise or amend it as 

deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions above in planning for the next 
meeting.  

 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 

and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions. 
 
Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan 
and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 

Date Written 16th January 2017 
Report Author Scrutiny Section 
Service Area Legal & Governance Services 
Committee Division Scrutiny  
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 23rd January 2017 

Page 45

Agenda Item 9



e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 
difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 

f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 
resources? 

 
Q) What is the specific role of the committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue  

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue 
 

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the corporate plan / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 
Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police,  Health Board etc 

 
Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 
Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 

and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 
 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 

You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 

Page 46



community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
3.3 Just so the scrutiny committees are aware the Council has seven key priorities as 

per the Corporate Plan. These are:- 1) Raising Standards of Attainment; 2) 
Employability;  3) Economic Development;  4) Promoting Active Lifestyles;  5) 
Promoting Independence; 6) Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Children and 7)  A 
Sustainable Environment. 
 
These seven Council priority areas are delivered through 4 themes and each of the 4 
Chief Officers has ownership and responsibility for one of them. The 4 themes are:- 

 

• Raising Standards - (Chief Officer for Learning/ Cabinet member for 
Learning)  
Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 

 

• Improving Wellbeing - (Chief Officer for Social Services / Cabinet member 
for Social Services) 
Social Services Scrutiny Committee 

 

• Economic Growth - (Chief Officer for Community Regeneration / Cabinet 
member for Regeneration, Planning and Countryside) 
Regeneration, Planning & Countryside Scrutiny Committee 

 

• Sustainable Development - (Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services / 
Cabinet member for Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection) 
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee 

 
3.4 To reflect the 4 themes as per above in a convenient form, 4 “strategies on a page” 

have been developed each reflects the Measures of Success; Desired Outcomes 
and Strategic Aims and Objectives. 

 
3.5  Much of Scrutiny committee activity is aligned to the delivery of the Council’s 

corporate priorities and the “strategies of a page” can assist scrutiny committees in 
this role. See appendix I for the “strategies of a page” 
 

3.6 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached. 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Page 47



Measures of Success

Raising Standards

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims 

All learners attain at least
the expected standard at all

stages in their education

Vision:

AIM 1: Improve the quality of
leadership including the leadership
of learning and teaching

AIM 2: Improve LA and
commissioned services

Leadership in all schools
is good or better

All members of the
education community

collaborate well in order
to improve the standards
and wellbeing of pupils

Teaching in all schools
is good or better

LA provision improves 
standards of attainment 

and the quality of
leadership and teaching 

in schools

P
age 48



Specific Measurable Outcomes - Measures of Success

Improving Wellbeing

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims & Objectives:

Social Services:
- Children
- Adults
- Safeguarding

We will help people in
Merthyr Tydfil to maximise their
potential, be free from poverty,

be independent and healthy
and to live in supportive and

resilient communities.
People in Merthyr Tydfil 

will be able to lead 
independent and 

fulfilled lives.
Vulnerable children in 

Merthyr Tydfil live 
healthy, safe and fulfilled 

lives.

People in Merthyr Tydfil 
are physically active and 

as a result have 
improved health.

Vision:

P
age 49



Economic	  Growth	  Plan	  
	  
	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   	  Vision	  	  	  	  

Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Business	  Base	  	   Baseline	  
	  (year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Labour	  Market	  	   Baseline	  

(year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   Skills	  	   Baseline	  
(year)	   Target	  	  

Key	  Indicator	  	   Count	  of	  birth	  of	  new	  
enterprises	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Economic	  Ac@vity,	  

Unitary	  Authori@es	  in	  
Wales	  	  

27833	  (2011)	   30000	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Level	  2	  Skills	  	   6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Births	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Average	  Gross	  Weekly	  

Earnings	  	   £477.60	  
(2014)	   £500	   	  	   Indicator	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  level	  2	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  	  	  

6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Deaths	  	   135	  (2013)	   100	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Claimant	  Count	  Levels	  	   1,100	  (Mar	  2015)	   900	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  no	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  

9963	   9000	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Gross	  Disposal	  
Household	  Income	  Per	  
Head	  	  	  

£13,500	   £14000	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	   Unemployment	  Levels	  
16	  +	  	   2000	   1600	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Economic	  InacLvity	  
Levels	  16-‐64	  year	  olds	   7,900	   7,300	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

 

AIM 1: Develop a diverse 
and vibrant business 

base 

	  	  

AIM 2: Create a flexible, 
resilient and responsive 

labour market 	  

 
 

AIM 3:  Increase the 
quality and skills within 
the existing and future 

workforce necessary for 
effective business growth  

	  	  

 
 

AIM 4: Improve and create 
the right infrastructure to 

enable and accelerate 
business growth   

	  	  

Measurable	  Outcomes	  	  

Desired	  Outcomes	  	  

P
age 50



A Sustainable Environment

Vision
People in Merthyr Tydfil 
will live in communities 
that are sustainable, clean 
and energy efficient. 

Waste Management
Energy Management
Environmental Quality  - Cleaning / Fly Tipping / Litter
           - Air Quality
           - Noise

Flood Management
Planning & Countryside
Wildlife & Biodiversity
Parks & Open SpacesSpecific Measurable Outcomes - ‘Scores on Doors’

  - Measure of Success

Strategic Aims & Objectives -

Desired Outcomes -

Creation of more
‘Greener’ jobs

P
age 51



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

 
Committee Learning and LAESCYP 

Date / Timing Overarching 
Item 

Officer & 
Cabinet 
Member 

 (Other) Scrutiny Focus  

20th June 2016 

Pupil 
Outcomes 

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Education of Looked After Children 
 

Pupil 
Outcomes 

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Attendance and Exclusions 
 

Performance Cllr H Jones / 
EMcW / DH 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 1 Report.  An update on progress implementing the 
Corporate Plan. 
*Appendix = Draft Service Performance Report (Learning). An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for 
example activities from the Performance Board challenge. 
 

12th September 2016 

Pupil 
Outcomes 

Cllr H Jones /  
DH 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Flying start outcomes 
 

Provisional 
Examination 
results. 
 

Cllr H Jones /  
DH 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:-  A report providing the provisional results for all key stages for 
Merthyr Tydfil Schools 
 

Commissionin
g the 

consortium 

Cllr H Jones / 
EMcW / DH 

Hannah 
Woodhous
e and Cllr 

David 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
A report detailing the current effectiveness and shortcomings of the consortium in 
relation to the recent Estyn inspection Plus a review of the CSC business plans for the 
short and long term.   
 

31st October 2016 

Leadership 
 

DH/Cllr H 
Jones 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
SER KQ 3.3  Partnership working  
SER KQ 3.4 Resource management 
 
 
 

P
age 52



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

Service Level 
Agreements  

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
At the 25th January 2016 meeting, the committee wanted to monitor:- The 
consultation with the Unions and the feedback  as far as the lunches and breakfast 
clubs is concerned; and the educational inclusion SLA and the feedback from the 
schools forum; and the impact these have on the local authority and the schools 
 

Performance Cllr H Jones / 
EMcW / DH 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 1 Report.  An update on progress implementing the 
Corporate Plan. 
 
Service Performance Report (Learning). An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities 
from the Performance Board challenge. 
 

5th December 2016 

Schools 
Attendance At 

Scrutiny 
 

Cllr HJ, DH, 
Head & Chair 
of Governors 

Schools 
 

 Scrutiny & Challenge :  
Attendance by the headteacher and chair of governors of Afon Taf High School.   

Estyn Local 
Authority Link 

Inspector 
(LALI) Visit 

 

DH/Cllr HJ  Scrutiny & Challenge:- To receive feedback from the Chief Education Officer on the 
Estyn Local Authority Link Inspector (LALI) visit in September/Oct 2016 
 

School 
organisation  

  

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Report on school organisation framework and surplus places and 21st Century 
Schools programme. SER KQ 2.4  Access and school places  
 

School 
Improvement 

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
SER KQ 2.1 Support for School Improvement 
 

23rd January 2017 
 

Wellbeing 
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Wellbeing 
SER KQ1 1.2 Wellbeing SER KQ 2.3  Promoting social inclusion and wellbeing 

Pupils with   Scrutiny & Challenge:-  

P
age 53



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

ALN Provision for pupils with ALN 
SER KQ2 2.2 Support for additional learning needs   

Central South 
Consortium  

Cllr H Jones / 
EMcW / DH 

Hannah 
Woodhous
e and Cllr 

David 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
A report to scrutiny on standards cross the CSC and in Merthyr. This is part of a 
programme to report to all 5 LA’s across the consortium area 
Can we adjust the work programme? 
 

Leadership   Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
SER KQ 3.1 Leadership including governance 

SER KQ 3.2  Improving quality 
 

27th February 2017 
 

Pupil 
outcomes 

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
SER  KQ1 1:1 Standards 
 

Self-evaluation   Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Summary SER 
 

Performance Cllr H Jones / 
EMcW / DH 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 1 Report.  An update on progress implementing the 
Corporate Plan. 
Service Performance Report (Learning). An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities 
from the Performance Board challenge. 
*Appendix = Performance Board update.  An synopsis from the Performance Board. 
 

17th April 2017 

Schools 
Attendance At 

Scrutiny 
 

Cllr HJ, DH, 
Head & Chair 
of Governors 

Schools 
 

 Scrutiny & Challenge :  
Attendance by the headteacher and chair of governors of XX School. The meeting will 
involve a 15 minute presentation by the school focusing on the good features and the 
challenges that the school is facing. The Committee will also be asking the local 
authority officers how they identified what, if anything, was needed at the school 
and how the school responded. The Committee is also keen to understand how both 
the school and the local authority have made good progress together. 
 

Central South 
Consortium 

DH Hannah 
Woodhous

Scrutiny & Challenge :  
At the 12th September 2016 meeting HW suggested that the committee may wish to 

P
age 54



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

 
Possible focus for a task and finish group 

• Committee needs to engage with the secondary schools and the college as the County Borough is losing pupils to RCT; and about a 
borough wide learning together initiative. This follows information received at Chair attendance at Service Challenge Sessions (Self 
Evaluation)  

• Review of what the Authority and Schools are providing in relation to ALN across the County Borough. To include the role of 
Greenfield Special school 

For future consideration (some need to be taken off) 
 

To be confirmed (in 
addition to June 
2015) 

Adult, MIA, 
Community 
Learning & 
Communities 
First 
 

LB, DH, Lead 
HOS & Cllr 

BC 

Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services 

Information & Overview : A brief outline of key LAESCYP and Education issues 
currently delivered by Social Regeneration and an opportunity to scope out how the 
new committee will address issues. 

To be confirmed 

Merthyr Youth 
Forum / Cabinet 
 

DH/LPL Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services 

To meet with the Merthyr youth forum / cabinet, inviting them to give us an insight 
on how they see their role, achievements, how they perceive opportunities for the 
youth of Merthyr Tydfil etc. 
 

To be confirmed 

Nursery 
Admissions 

AL Pre Scrutiny & 
Follow Up 
Issues 

Scrutiny & Challenge : A report updating committee on progress towards 
reconfiguring the funding and delivery of nursery provision to meet statutory 
requirements and defining sufficiency 
 

To be confirmed 

Home To 
Schools 
Transport 
 

AL Pre Scrutiny & 
Follow Up 
Issues 

Information & Overview : A report updating committee on progress towards 
reconfiguring the funding and delivery of HTST 

To be confirmed Learning 
Support 

 Pre Scrutiny & 
Follow Up 

Information & Overview : A report detailing the outcomes of a review of the 
appropriateness of the current service level agreements with schools in relation to 

Update of 
progress in 

meeting 
ESTYN 

Recommendat
ions 

e of CHC have a regular update on the CSC’s progress in addressing the ESTYN 
recommendations following the inspection of the CSC – report dated February 2016. 
This could be in the form of a briefing note for the Committee. 

P
age 55

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Central%20South%20Consortium_0.pdf


Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

Assistant 
Review 
 

Issues LSAs 

To be confirmed 

Effectiveness of 
Governors 

GW/DH Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services 
 

Information & Overview : To have sight of the Governors survey. How effective are 
Governors in the overall school improvement. 

To be confirmed 

Human 
Resources 
Department 
Restructuring.  
 

 Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services 

Information & Overview : Impact of restructure on schools i.e. better service; school 
improvement 

To be confirmed 
 

School Budgets 
(Afon Taf High 
School) 

 School 
Budgets 

Information & Overview: Meeting 7th September 2015. Afon Taf High School 
overspent against its plan in year 1 by £60k and closed the financial year-end £342k in 
deficit. Internal audit are currently reviewing the current financial position of Afon Taf 
High School and the reasons for their large financial deficit. The committee has asked 
for sight of the report when it is available. 
 

To be confirmed 
 
 

Free School 
Meals 
(attainment) 
 

 Pupil 
Outcomes 

Information & Overview : Meeting 7th September 2015. Meeting with CSC. One of the 
areas for improvement  “A sharper pace and urgency to focus on the achievement of 
children claiming free school meals in particular across the region, so that they 
achieve accelerated improvement against their peers”. Need to follow up on this at a 
future meeting with the CSC and the Chief Education Officer. What is the CSC doing to 
support this LEA? 
 

To be confirmed 
 

School Balances  School 
Budgets 
 

Information & Overview: The committee requires a report on school balances with 
reference to the likely pressures on school balances in the coming financial years. 

To be confirmed 
 

Effectiveness of 
Capita 1 system  
 

 Pupil 
Outcomes 

Information & Overview: The software system Capita One provides management 
information systems for local authorities to for example measure attendance, provide 
attainment figures (trends etc), safeguarding etc. An update on the effectiveness of 
the system is required. 
 

To be confirmed  
 

Loss of Pupils to 
RCT schools 

 Pupil 
Outcome 

Information & Overview:  Committee needs to engage with the secondary schools 
and the college as the County Borough is losing pupils to RCT; and about a borough 
wide learning together initiative. This follows information received at Chair 

P
age 56



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

attendance at Service Challenge Sessions (Self Evaluation) 
 

To be confirmed  
 

Additional 
Learning Needs 
 

 Pupil 
Outcomes 

Information & Overview: The committee requires an update report on what the 
Authority and Schools are providing in relation to ALN across the County Borough. 

To be confirmed  
 

Absenteeism  Pupil 
Outcomes 

Information & Overview: A report providing levels of school absenteeism, to include 
comparison with like schools and the development of any procedures to raise 
attendance. Top also meet with a member of the Absenteeism Group. 
 

To be confirmed  
 

Do schools 
receive Internal 
Audit Reports? 
Do they discuss 
with the 
Governing 
Bodies 

 Pupil 
Outcomes / 
Governance 

Information & Overview: This suggestion emanated from the Audit Committee on 9th 
November (Cllr’s Clive Jones / Kate Moran). Is there general access to schools minutes 
and agenda’s  

To be confirmed  
 

B Squared 
Assessment 
Software and 
Capita 1 System 

 Pupil 
Outcomes / 
Governance 

Information & Overview:  At the 30/11/2015 meeting committee informed that B 
Squared Assessment Software has not been introduced in schools as yet. This 
software package will assist with collation and production of data / information in 
relation to Provision for ALN Pupils. An update is required as to whether this software 
is now being introduced / purchased. 
 

To be confirmed  
 

Greenfield 
School -t 
capacity 

 Pupil 
Outcomes 

Information & Overview:  At the 30/11/2015 meeting committee informed 
Greenfield School is at capacity. As such are other Schools struggling with resources, 
are there more children in mainstream schools. 
 

To be confirmed  
 

Invite SENCO’s 
to a Scrutiny 
meeting 

 Pupil 
Outcomes 

Information & Overview:  Following the 30/11/2015 meeting. To get an 
understanding of the work they do and their experiences of working with Local 
Authority. 
 

To be confirmed in 
new Work 
Programme for 
2016/17. Placed as 
standing item for 
time being. 

Performance 
Board – 
Learning report 
25th January 

 Performance Report recommendation is “Scrutiny to schedule a reoccurring agenda item in their 
forward work programme to monitor the delivery of the agreed action points detailed 
in this report.” 

P
age 57



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

 

To be confirmed in 
new Work 
Programme for 
2016/17 

Service Level 
Agreements 

 Pupil 
Outcomes 

Scrutiny and review:- Suggested by the Chair. Following the 25th January 2016 
meeting, the committee still wants to monitor consultation with the unions re lunches 
and breakfast clubs, and also the educational inclusion and the feedback from the 
schools forum and the schools themselves; and the impact for the local authority and 
the schools. 
 

To be confirmed NEETS  Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services 
 

NEETs going to scrutiny after the Destination Survey for 2015 is published, as the 
department would then be in a position to report on Merthyr’s performance in 
comparison to the rest of Wales.  
 
The Department (Chris Hole) highlight the following themes to Scrutiny so that it is 
able to explore further as the coming year progresses, especially as there is a general 
awareness of the improvements seen in recent years to the overall NEETs figure  with 
a continued  decrease in young people identified as NEET which for 2015 is  1.6% as 
previously reported.    
 
 Key messages/themes 
 

1. The council currently has access to the Merthyr Tydfil pre-release data for 
2015. The full report is due to be published in the spring of this year however 
no set date is currently available. When published this will enable the 
authority to benchmark its current performance against the rest of Wales.  
 

2. However through local analysis  of trend data for the past 3 years (2013 - 
2015)  
 

a.  An increasing number of young people are staying on in education, 
however significant increases have been seen in young people opting 
for school 6th forms outside of Merthyr Tydfil (excluding Greenfield) 

b.  Whilst the number of young people  classified as unable to take up a 
post 16 provision is small, Mental Health issues are identified as the 
prevailing factor   (in 2015 70% of the current 10  unable to access 
provision)  

P
age 58



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

c. After initial progress  there has been a significant reduction in young 
people securing apprenticeships  
 

3. A further theme not covered by the Destination survey  but requiring 
exploration in the coming year is the retention of young people by sector 
(Work based Learning, Tertiary College etc.) once they have taken up a 
progression route after leaving school  

 
These suggested  themes would  give some clear priorities  for future 
scrutiny  meetings  within what is a fairly wide partnership agenda.  
 

To be confirmed Surplus Places  Pupil 
Outcomes / 
Governance 

Scrutiny and review:- Report of what impact this will have on schools in the future 
and how it will impact on funding allocation. 

To be confirmed Schools Budget 
Formula / 
Schools funding 
formula 
 

 Pupil 
Outcomes / 
Governance 

Scrutiny and review: - This is an ongoing issue as far as this scrutiny committee is 
concerned which has not been addressed satisfactorily to date.  

To be confirmed 
(agreed at 20th June 
2016 meeting) 

   • Invite the LAESCYP Monitoring Group to a future meeting. 
• Arrange School visits for the Committee when required to those schools 

where scrutiny can make an impact. 
• Attendance training and impact of the SLA’s. What are schools  doing 

themselves?  
• Impact on SLA’s.  
• Expectations and attainment of Looked after Children. 
• Impact of Capita One, e.g. now that it is imbedded is it capturing the right 

data that schools and the LEA needs, is it more effective? 
• Confirmation when GCSE Results are being included on the Forward Work 

Programme. September meeting? 
• Industrial Relations with the Education Department.    
• HR SLA’s to be included in the Forward Work Programme for September. 
• LAC placed out of county do better than those in county. Why? Theresa is 

collating data so the Department can drill down. When data analysed it will 
come to scrutiny 

P
age 59



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

TBC Merthyr Youth 
Forum / 
Cabinet  

DH/CH  Information & Overview :  
To meet with the Merthyr youth forum / cabinet, inviting them to give us an 
insight on how they see their role, achievements, how they perceive 
opportunities for the youth of Merthyr Tydfil etc. Listening To Young People/ 
Youth Engagement and Progression 
 

TBC Leadership 
Capacity - 
Identifying and 
developing 
Leaders / 
Leadership 
skills within 
Schools  

DH Governance in 
Schools 

Information & Overview :  
At the meeting on 12th September Hannah Woodhouse from the CSC suggested that 
this may be an area that the scrutiny committee may wish to monitor i.e. ensuring 
that there is Leadership capacity in the LEA is identified and developed. What is the 
LEA doing in this area?  
 

TBC Action Points 
following 
Learning & 
LAESCYP 
Performance 
Board meeting 
Nov 2015. 
Update on item 
1) for this 
meeting 
 
 
 
 
 

DH, Sarah 
Bowen 

Pupil 
Outcomes 

Scrutiny and Challenge: At the last Learning & LAESCYP Performance Board 5 areas 
for improvement were identified – 1) Parental Engagement (Lead Officer Sarah 
Bowen); 2) More Able and Talented Pupils (Dorothy Haines); 3) Governance & 
Governing Bodies (Dorothy Haines); 4) Collaboration (Dorothy Haines); and 5) 
Corporate Support Services (Glynis Estabanez). (These were identified in the 
Performance Board report to Learning & LAESCYP meeting on 25th January 2016). 
Numbers 1 to 4 managed by the L&L scrutiny committee; and 5) by the Governance 
Scrutiny Committee. Above suggested by Cllr P. Williams. 
 
From 22nd February 2016 

 
As per text 

Visits to Primary 
Schools in 
County Borough 

Committee 
Task and 
Finish Group 
(email DH 16th 
November 2016) 

Pupil 
outcomes 

1. Troedyrhiw Primary Community School   (After 23rd January / before 17th February 2017) 
2. Ysgol Gymraeg Rhyd-Y-Grug                       (Mid to late March 2017) 
 

P
age 60



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

TBC Greenfield 
School 

 Pupil numbers Greenfield School is reaching capacity. With secondary / primary schools if 
capacity reached they are able to transfer to other schools. This is not the case 
with Greenfield due the support provided there. The committee wishes to keep an 
eye on any capacity issues. (December 2016 meeting suggestion) 
 

TBC 21st Century 
Schools 

 School builds At the Dec 2016 meeting the committee heard from the Head and Chair of 
Governors that the school had no or very little say about the school build / 
alterations, when it should have. Eg. No cloak room to hang up coats – children 
carrying coats class to class, colour of classrooms (pained white – dirty very 
quickly). Whilst they raised their concerns, they were not listened to. Lesson for 
furture / committee to keep an eye on. 
 

 

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Central South Consortium - Contribution to Raising Standards in Merthyr Tydfil Schools
	Central South Consortium Contribution to Raising Standards in Merthyr Tydfil Schools
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	1.0 REASON FOR THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND


	170123 CSC Merthyr Scrutiny report Jan 2017

	4 HR Policy for Schools Safer Recruitment
	170123 HR Policy for Schools Safer Recruitment
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	HR Policy for Schools Safer Recruitment
	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION that
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	3.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is committed to safeguarding the welfare of all children including those educated within its schools. Headteachers and Governing Bodies have a responsibility to ensure that this policy is adhered to when plann...
	4.0 WHERE WE WERE
	5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW
	6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE
	7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT
	8.1 The Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact Assessment has been completed and the report positively impacts on all aspects of the Corporate Plan and Single Integrated Plan; including people in Merthyr Tydfil having the opportunity and asp...


	170123 Background Paper - HR Policy for Schools Safer Recruitment
	2.2 The requirement to be DBS checked must also be reflected in the person specification. It is envisaged that due to the nature of work in schools and contact with children that all posts will require an enhanced DBS disclosure.
	3. JOB ADVERTS AND APPLICATION PACKS
	3.3 The following documents should be included in all application packs unless specified:
	Application Form (CV’s should not be accepted unless accompanied by an application form)
	 Job Description
	 Person Specification
	 School’s Prospectus / Development Plan (Teaching roles)
	4.  SHORTLISTING AND INTERVIEWING CANDIDATES
	4.4 As posts within schools are exempt from the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, candidates should be encouraged to disclose any unspent convictions, warnings, reprimands or cautions during the application stage. This is facilitated within the ap...

	Appendix 1
	Risk Management Plan


	5 Self-Evaluation of improving the quality of self-evaluation
	170123 Self Evaluation of improving the quality of self evaluation
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	1.1 The local authority has a planned work programme for the Self–Evaluation Report (SER) in order to build up a profile of judgements, which will be used to highlight any areas for improvement as well as come to an overall view on standards and perfo...
	1.2 The purpose of the report is to provide the current judgement for Key Question 3.2 in the SER, which focuses on improving the processes of self-evaluation and improvement planning in order to improve outcomes for learners.
	1.3 The judgement is that improving quality is good.  The SER is attached.
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.1 The content of this report be discussed and noted.
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	3.1 Self-evaluation is the essential step in a cyclical process of bringing about change and improvement.  The steps in the process are:
	 Monitoring and evaluating improvement
	3.2 The local authority’s Self-Evaluation Report (SER) for LAESCYP services is being reviewed and updated to ensure that the judgements and actions will lead to improved outcomes for all learners.  At the heart of self-evaluation are three questions:
	4.0 WHERE WE WERE
	4.1 In 2014/2015, improving quality was judged good.
	5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW
	6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE
	6.1 The LA’s ambition is to be ranked in the top 10 performing local authorities by 2017 and is making good progress towards achieving this target.  Effective support for school improvement can provide a clear, demonstrable and beneficial effect on le...
	8.0 Contribution to corporate priorities
	8.1 Effective self-evaluation and improvement planning contributes substantially to the capacity to achieve the corporate priority of raising standards of attainment.


	170123 Background Paper - SER KQ 3.2
	Self Evaluation – Key Question 3.2
	CURRENT POSITION
	GOOD PRACTICE
	 Evidence based, purposeful self-evaluation has continued to be embedded in the processes of; Local Authority and national categorisation, Partnership Reviews, Case Conferences, Joint Practice Development and School to school support.
	 There is a comprehensive evaluation and monitoring of data on standards and the quality of education, including consideration of trends and progress over time, reported to Cabinet, Council and Scrutiny.
	 Performance across LAESCYP services is highly effectively monitored and challenged by Scrutiny members and this has contributed effectively to the continued improvements. Scrutiny members continue to skilfully hold to account the Central South Conso...
	 Performance against the Common Inspection Framework (CIF) and against the Corporate plan is monitored and extensively challenged each month through the LAESCYP monitoring group which is chaired by the Chief Education Officer (CEO) and attended by th...
	 Termly Service Reviews completed in partnership with the Central South Consortium and continued monthly meetings with the Schools Challenge Cymru (SCC) champion has maintained the extensive targeting of support that has led to continued improvements...
	 Information from self-evaluation is used effectively to set priorities and appropriately challenging targets for improvement.
	 Improvement plans set out clearly the actions for improvement, with specified and realistic timescales and have resulted in improvements over recent years
	 Local authority officers are members of regional and national groups and these are effective networks of professional practice that enable best proactive to be applied in MTCBC
	PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT
	FUTURE ACTIONS TO IMPROVE THE QUALITY OF SELF-EVALUATION




	6 Self-Evaluation of the impact of leadership
	170123 Self Evaluation of the impact of leadership
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	1.1 The local authority has a planned work programme for the Self-Evaluation Report (SER) in order to build up a profile of judgements, which will be used to highlight any areas for improvement as well as come to an overall view on standards and perfo...
	1.2 The purpose of this report is to provide the current judgement for Key Question 3.1 in the SER which is the impact of leadership.
	1.3 The judgement is that the impact of leadership is good.  The SER is attached.
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION that
	2.1 the content of this report be discussed and noted.
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	3.1 Self-evaluation is the essential step in a cyclical process of bringing about change and improvement.  The steps in the process are:
	 Monitoring and evaluating improvement
	3.2 The local authority’s Self-Evaluation Report (SER) for LAESCYP services is being reviewed and updated to ensure that the judgements and actions will lead to improved outcomes for all learners.  At the heart of self-evaluation are three questions:
	4.0 WHERE WE WERE
	4.1 In 2014/2015, the impact of leadership was judged adequate.
	5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW
	6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE
	6.1 The LA’s ambition is to be ranked in the top 10 performing local authorities by 2017 and is making good progress towards achieving this target.  Effective support for school improvement can provide a clear, demonstrable and beneficial effect on le...
	8.0 Contribution to corporate priorities
	8.1 The effectiveness of leadership contributes substantially to the capacity to achieve the corporate priority of raising standards of attainment.


	170123 Background Paper - SER KQ 3.1 Leadership
	Question 3:  Strategic Leadership & Management
	3.1 IMPACT OF LEADERSHIP
	CURRENT POSITION
	GOOD PRACTICE
	PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT
	FUTURE ACTIONS TO IMPROVE THE IMPACT OF LEADERSHIP




	9 Scrutiny Work programme
	Work Programme Report 2016 17
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND


	Strategies on a Page
	4 Learning__LAESCYP_descriptors


